Cape Light Compact
Executive Committee &
Governing Board Meeting

DATE: Wednesday, January 9, 2019

LOCATION: Cape Light Compact Offices — MV Conference Room
261 Whites Path, Unit 4, South Yarmouth

TIME: 2:00 - 4:30 p.m.

AGENDA

2:00 PM Open Session Vote on entry into Executive Session pursuant to M.G.L. c. 30A §§21(a) (1) and
(3) to discuss matters below, to return to open session:

1. Regulatory litigation strategy for the following matters: DPU 18-116, CLC 2019-2021
Energy Efficiency Plan Filing; DPU 16-169, National Grid; DPU 18-128, 2019 Energy
Efficiency Surcharge, Potential Votes

2. Discuss matters regarding physical health of an individual

3:00 PM Public Comment
Approval of Minutes

Chairman’s Report
1. Elections for 2019 Officers
2. Elections for 2019 Executive Committee Members

Overview of 2019 Contracts, Peter Cocolis

Administrator’s Report:

1. Overview and Discussion of Compact Operating Budget

Review Set-Up of CL.C Board Member Email Accounts

Review Documents Sent to CLC Board

a. Summary of Conflict of Interest Law for Municipal; Employees

b. Office of the Attorney General: Open Meeting Law Guide and Educational Materials

c. Office of the Attorney General: 940 CMR: Open Meetings

d. Office of the Inspector General: How to be an Effective Board Member of a Public
Board or Commission

RN

Board Member Update (Reserved for Updates on Member Activities the Chair Did Not
Reasonably Anticipate Would be Discussed — No Voting)



Draft Minutes subject to correction, addition and Commitiee/Board Approval

Cape Light Compact JPE
Governing Board
Open Session Meeting Minutes
Wednesday, December 5, 2018

The Cape Light Compact JPE Board of Directors met on Wednesday, December 5, 2018 in the Martha’s
Vineyard Conference Room at the Cape Light Compact JPE Offices at 261 Whites Path, Yarmouth, MA 02664
at 2:00 PM.

Present Were;

David Anthony, Secretary, Barnsiable

Robert Schofield, Executive Committee, Bourne
Colin Odell, Brewster

Peter Cocolis, Executive Committee, Chatham
Brad Crowell, Dennis

Fred Fenlon, Eastham

Paul Pimentel, Edgartown

Ronald Zweig, Vice-Chair, Falmouth

Valerie Bell, Harwich

10. Richard Toole, Executive Committee, Oak Bluffs - By phone
11. Martin Culik, Orleans — By phone

12, Leanne Drake, Sandwich

13. Richard Elkin, Wellfleet

14. David Mead-Fox, Wellfleet Alternate

15. Sue Hruby, West Tisbury

16. Joyce Flynn, Chair, Yarmouth

17. Daniel Knapik, Yarmouth Alternate

LR R R R

Absent Were:

Michael Hebert, Aquinnah

Timothy Carroll, Chilmark

Robert Hannemann, Dukes County

Wayne Taylor, Mashpee

Thomas Donegan, Executive Committee, Provincetown
Kirk Metell, Tisbury

Jarrod Cabral, Truro

MR WRN =

Members/Alternates:
Physically present: 15
Present by phone: 2

Legal Counsel:
Jeffrey Bernstein, Esq., BCK Law, P.C.

Staff Present:
Austin Brandt, Senior Power Supply Planner
Briana Kane, Planning and Evaluation Manager

Cupre Livl Compaet Evecutive Coumritiee & Governne B
Docenber 3, 20N Vecinyg Ve



Dralt Minutes subject to correction, addition and Committee/Board Approval

Dan Schell, Marketing and Communications Coordinator
Maggie Downey, Administrator

Margaret Song, C&I Program Manager

Melissa Allard, Senior Administrative Coordinator

Public Present:
None Present.

Joyce Flynn called the meeting to order at 2:02 PM. Joyce Flynn recognized Richard Toole of Oak Bluffs and
Martin Culik of Orleans who were remotely participating because physical attendance at the meeting would be
unreasonably difficult.

PusLIC COMMENT:

There were no members of the public present.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES:

The Board considered the November 14, 2018 Meeting Minutes. The only correction made was to remove
Valerie Bell from the absent list.

Robert Schofield moved the Board to accept the minutes as amended, seconded by Peter Cocolis.

David Anthony Barnstable Yes
Robert Schofield Bourne Yes
Colin Odell Brewster Yes
Peter Cocolis Chatham Yes
Brad Crowell Dennis Yes
Fred Fenlon Eastham Yes
Paul Pimentel Edgartown Yes
Ronald Zweig Falmouth Abstained
Valerie Bell Harwich Yes
Richard Toole Qak Bluffs Yes
Martin Culik Orleans Yes
Leanne Drake Sandwich Yes
Richard Elkin Wellfleet Yes
Sue Hruby West Tisbury Abstained
Joyce Flynn Yarmouth Yes

Motion carried in the affirmative (13 — 0 - 2)

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT:

Joyce Flynn stated that afiter 6 years as chair, she believes it is time for someone else to take over. She stated
that she is willing to be on the executive committee.

FiscAl REPORT: OVERVIEW OF OPERATING BUDGETS, PETER COCOLIS:

Cape Light Compar Execatnve Connmitee S Governing Boosd
Decontber 5, 2008 Mecnms Voo



Dralt Minutes subject to correction. addition and Committee/Board Approval

Peter Cocolis stated that the Compact will likely expend its full operating budget, and that Maggie Downey may
have to move funds between line items. The expenses shown with 100% remaining are expenses that will be
paid at the end of this year.

Richard Elkin asked about the interest income of almost $80,000 and why it is so much. Maggie Downey stated
she will have to talk to the Comptroller, Joanne Nelson, and she will have a written response to share at, or
before, the next Board meeting.

ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT:

1. Open Nominations for 2019 Cape Light Compact JPE Officers and Executive Committee

Maggie Downey stated that the Board traditionally opens nominations in December and then closes
nominations and votes at the January meeting.

Nominations for Officer Positions:

Maggie Downey asked if there were any nominations for Chair. Sue Hruby nominated Thomas Donegan.
Robert Schofield nominated Martin Culik. Martin Culik thanked Robert Schofield for the nomination, but stated
he is not able to serve at this time. Valerie Bell nominated Robert Schofield. Robert Schofield stated he is
unable to take on the position.

Maggie Downey asked if there were any nominations for Vice Chair. Peter Cocolis nominated Ronald Zweig.

Maggie Downey asked if there were any nominations for Secretary. Robert Schofield nominated David
Anthony.

Maggie Downey asked if there were any nominations for the position of Treasurer. Richard Elkin nominated
Glivinski and Associates, Inc,

Maggie Downey asked if there were any nominations for the position of Business Officer. Robert Schofield
nominated Joanne Nelson.

Nominations for Executive Committee:

Maggie Downey asked that if there were any nominations for the general Executive Committee members
beyond the Chair, Vice Chair, and Secretary nominations. Valerie Bell nominated Joyce Flynn. Ronald Zweig
nominated Robert Schofield. Ronald Zweig nominated Peter Cocolis.

2. Discuss and Potential Vote on 2019 Operating Budget

Maggie Downey stated that she revised the organization of the 2019 Operating Budget to show line items from
high to low expenditures as requested. She also discussed how the marketing budget was allocated and noted
that an additional $7,400 was added to the sponsorship expense for unidentified sponsorship events.

e Liwhe Compact Exceative Commitiee & Goverining Bourd
Dyocomber 3, 2008 Mecting Munres



Draft Minutes subject to correction. addition and Committee/Board Approval

Valerie Bell asked where the energy education expense is coming from. Daniel Schell stated that it comes out of
the Energy Efficiency Budget. Peter Cocolis stated that the legal expense budget for 2019 should be sufficient
based on legal counsel’s work plan, but if an issue or matter not included in the work plan comes up, a
supplemental budget request would be needed and would come before the board for approval. He also stated
that the marketing budget has increased and sees it as a good thing. The Compact needs Lo push to get more
customers. Colin Odell stated that it may be best if the expense was shown under a different name such as
customer outreach. David Anthony stated that there has always been the anticipation that unforeseen energy
related matters come up and that when that happens the Board considers each matter and discusses any potential
budget impact. If needed, the Board would than amend the budget through a supplemental budget.

Colin Odell stated that the heading on the Operating Budget is “power supply reserve fund,” and noted that this
was in fact not the balance in the reserve fund, but instead the revenues actually collected through September
2018. Colin Odell asked that the heading be changed and that the balance in the reserve fund be provided to the
Board. Colin Odell noted that he had previously requested that the budget revenue projections be normalized
for weather. Maggie Downey stated that while this is done for the Energy Efficiency Budget, it is difficult to
do so for the revenues collected on the mil adder because our revenue does not track weather, but rather is most
substantially affected by the number of customers participating in the power supply program, which in turn is
more of a function of how the Compact Supplier’s pricing compares relative to Basic Service rather than
weather conditions.

Brad Crowell stated that the budget could be revised at any time. The Board should go ahead and approve and
work out the issues as they come up. Fred Fenlon asked if in the past five years the Compact has ever overspent
its budget. Maggie Downey stated that the Compact isn’t allowed to overspend its appropriated budget. Fred
Fenlon stated that we haven’t had an issue before and therefore he believed that everything should work out
fine.

Robert Schofield moved the CLCJPE Board of Directors vote to appropriate the Cape Light Compact Joint
Powers Entity Operating Budget in the amount of $848,693.

The Compact Administrator is authorized and directed to take all actions necessary or appropriate to
implement this vote, and to execute and deliver all documents as may be necessary or appropriate to implement
this vote. Seconded by Peter Cocolis.

David Anthony Barnstable Yes
Robert Schofield Bourne Yes
Colin Odell Brewster Yes
Peter Cocolis Chatham Yes
Brad Crowell Dennis Yes
Fred Fenlon Eastham Yes
Paul Pimentel Edgartown Yes
Ronald Zweig Falmouth Yes
Valerie Bell Harwich Yes
Richard Toole Oak Bluffs Yes
Martin Culik Orleans Yes
Leanne Drake Sandwich Yes
Richard Elkin Wellfleet Yes
Sue Hruby West Tisbury Yes

Copre Lishn Compant Executive Comitiee & Goveramg Beoord

Docember 3, 20N Mectnng Vintires




Lirait Mututes subject Lo correction. addition and Committee/Board Approval

| Joyce l Flynn | Yarmouth | Yes —l

Motion carried in the affirmative (15 - 0 - 0)
3. Discuss and Potential Vote on 2% Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA) for Calendar Year 2019

Maggie Downey stated that as mentioned at the previous Board Meeting there is to be a separate vote for the
COLA.

Joyce Flynn moved the CLCJPE Board of Directors vote to approve a 2019 employee cost of living adjustment
(COLA) in the amount 2%. The effective date is January 1, 2019.

The Compact Administrator is authorized and directed to take all actions necessary or appropriate to
implement this vote, and to execute and deliver all documents as may be necessary or appropriate to implement
this vote. Seconded by Colin Odell

David Anthony Barnstable Yes
Robert Schofield Bourne Yes
Colin Odell Brewster Yes
Peter Cocolis Chatham Yes
Brad Crowell Dennis Yes
Fred Fenlon Eastham Yes
Paul Pimentel Edgartown Yes
Ronald Zweig Falmouth Yes
Valerie Bell Harwich Yes
Richard Toole Qak Bluffs Yes
Martin Culik Orleans Yes
Leanne Drake Sandwich Yes
Richard Elkin Wellfleet Yes
Sue Hruby West Tisbury Yes
Joyce Flynn Yarmouth Yes

Motion carried in the affirmative (15 -0~ 0)

POWER SUPPLY PRICING OVERVIEW, AUSTIN BRANDT:

Austin Brandt stated that on Friday, November 30" the Compact announced the Power Supply pricing for the
upcoming term. The Compact’s Power Supply pricing is just under Eversource’s pricing, and the Compact’s
offering exceeds the Renewable Portfolio Standard (“RPS”) requirement by 1%. Austin Brandt noted that data
compiled for DPU Annual Report estimates a savings to participating Compact customers of almost $1.1 as
compared to customers on Eversource Basic Service rate for the same time period. Also, in January 2019 the
Compact will be announcing an opt-in local renewable power supply product. Customers will be able to elect to
pay a premium for additional Class 1 REC content above Compact’s opt-out product.

Open Session Vote on entry into Executive Session pursuant to M.G.L. ¢. 30A §§21(a)(3) to discuss
matters below, to return to open session:

Cupe Licht Compract Exeentive Committee & Goveratine
Dicvomber 3, 2018 Meeting Misnures



Dralt Minutes subject to correction. addition and Comnuttee/Board Approval

1. Regulatory litigation strategy for the following matters: DPU 18-116, CLC 2019-2021 Energy
Efficiency Plan Filing; DPU 16-169, National Grid; DPU 18-128, 2019 Energy Efficiency Surcharges;
and DPU 19-MA, 2018 Aggregator Annual Report, Potential Vote

Joyce Flynn at 3:02 PM moved to enter into Executive Session pursuant to MGL Chapter 304 §21(a)(3) to
discuss strategy with respect to regulatory litigation.

Joyce Flynn declared that an open session may have a detrimental effect on the litigating position of the Cape
Light Compact. The Governing Board will return to Open Session at the conclusion of Executive Session.
Seconded by Robert Schofield.

David Anthony Barnstable Yes
Robert Schofield Bourne Yes
Colin Odell Brewster Yes
Peter Cocolis Chatham Yes
Brad Crowell Dennis Yes
Fred Fenlon Eastham Yes
Paul Pimentel Edgartown Yes
Ronald Zweig Falmouth Yes
Valerie Bell Harwich Yes
Richard Toole Oak Bluffs Yes
Martin Culik Orleans Yes
Leanne Drake Sandwich Yes
Richard Elkin Wellfleet Yes
Sue Hruby West Tisbury Yes
Joyce Flynn Yarmouth Yes

Motion carvied in the affirmative (15 - 0-10)

Richard Toole and Martin Culik stepped participation by phone at 3:42 PM.
ADJOURNMENT:

Motion to adjourn made at 3:44 PM moved by Peter Cocolis, seconded by Robert Schofield.
Respectfully submitted,

Melissa Allard

LIST OF DOCUMENTS AND EXHIBITS:
s Meeting Notice/Agenda
November 14, 2018 Meeting Minutes
2018 Operating Budget
2019 Operating Budget
Agenda Action Request: Calendar Year 2019 Operating Budget (January 1 — December 31, 2019)
Agenda Action Request: 2% 2019 Employee Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA)

Cepe Lisdy Compan t Exeonive Comnittee & Gonvornng Board

Dicconibar 30 2008 Yoetme Moo



Dratt Minutes subject to correction, addition and Commitice/Board Approval

* Press Release: Cape Light Compact Announces Winter Electric Pricing

Cupe Lighe Coumpract Exccutive Committer & Genveriing Board
Docember 3, 2008 Mocting Minures



&Tr1 S S3NAIAG JYAH (BIOUIPISSY GLOE9-LTT'T Puz 000528 A UNSIYYID
{s3asas (jeasu BTIETITT'T
6IYT s3), WP woles ) SEnARDg puz 000°0SES A WEN
SSIUSAP [|eWS [BIIIWILCTD
6T0Z ‘T y2eW Yanoyl puaixa o) papuawy eI T sap sding W3 GUIEE-LTTT puz adueya ou A “u; yonerIpay Adiaug
6107 "0F unf YBno2y) puas o) papuatly BI'FT saj s1npoug 3 Junyan 6T 0E9SI'TI puz J3ueyou A U uonesapay Adsauy
B10Z ‘08 aunr yInaiy) puainz o) papualey %A ap Buis$Iz0ug ieQIY SIH 6TOE'FLT'T T 151 aBueyd ou A DU UOHEIEPR] AdIanT3]
sULT Tl e WaWIAIBY 53AISS . . < J—
A Sunnsuca|eucissajoid It -eter 2t = 09E'EE'TS A S|
6107 "TE Jaquadag yInosyl uua) pudlxs o papuswy BTLZ'TT 34 asequiep AU3aYs Aleus 93331 ETTEZT- L1TOTO T voﬂﬂm%ﬂw.ﬂo: A sddyang
81'0z'zL s3A J0/YD GUTEZI-LTT'IT pug 0005215 A SIS ARIEU] JND
0T0F auny y3noiyl Uiz | puaixa o papuaury BU'RTZI 24 wawadeueyy eleg |50 07'0£'90 - 01'02°v0 yig aduetdou A 19 ANQ
0ZOZ duny yB3nouy) uL3) PUIIxa o) papuawny gr&TZ1 $3) wswWadeuey eyeg |Riluapisay 0T 0£'80-91'10' 10 b33 4 a3ueyr oy A 19 ANG
. e o 000'00E5
8Tzt s34 SjuBWISSaSSY 1a1E |9 TT0E'9- BI'TOOT efu pasaxa b} you A oT1 "dnaug oapey)
D00'599 01 23png paadxa WIWaady saNA5 . - 000'599% ,
01 10U asea.oU pUE 6107 § YINOM) ULA) PUIIEE OF pap /LTI a4 ONEe1SU] 0] JuBpUIUY 6107 0€'6- BT 10'0T BT FYR——— A up ‘dnorg HAN
§ DDO'DOBS
t 53, g R 18 (1] d
BULTIT A uonen[eA3 5533014 (gD TToE 9 -8t 100t efu PIeIA3 01 10U A 3 dnous HAIN
BI'6'T1 $ap WwLaNdy 45| uEd] JeaH 6LIEE-BTT'Z efu efu A 143
Q 1qiyxa 01 J0renu0-qns € Julppe Jo} papuawe Ajug IS4 EETY ek e GLUTEE-LT'#OT 131 aBueyl on A suohniog Allaug|
) 40} suoneddde ssazoly
BL T 53, fesiod uohealddy &I 14l efu *L65" 1] JIWOLS
7190 A YW 10} JOIBISIUILIPY [RGOID oTel'+0-8T°0T'¥0 f SL'L65'0Z% N Sk, i}
BT TT 90 a5 Ha BUTEZI-BI'IO'TD 15T 005'1% A 1amog 3|d0sy
S . 00°'000°025
8rIT Lo sap iaeyag BI'IE'TI - BIOZ'TO LD 15T passxa oy 1ou A Iamog 3jdoad
81'80°S0 3\ SaNAlES ualienieal 6T°0£'90- L1'TO'TO i1 00°HZL'65 A ") BuNnsuod JueAaeN
aieq 203UNI0YS LIVHINGD v
330N nmoaxg 3
Jenosddy ATIALLLIIWOD 350d4nd wHal ANINONIWY 10 INAOWY PIMIAN] 1I2QUO) JNVN BOGN3A




Cape Light Compact JPE
2018 Operating Fund 001
Budget Report

As of December 31, 2018

REVENUE

OPERATING FUND CY18-TRANSFERS IN
OPERATING FUND CY18-INTEREST INCOME
OPERATING FUND CY18-OTHER REVENUE

TOTAL REVENUES

EXPENSES

OPERATING FUND CY18-ADVERTISING (POWER SUPPLY)
OPERATING FUND CY18-AUDIT FEES

OPERATING FUND CY18-BANK FEES

OPERATING FUND CY18-BUILDING RENOVATNS/FURNITU
QOPERATING FUND CY18-COMPUTER EQUIPMENT
OPERATING FUND CY18-CONTRACTUAL

OPERATING FUND CY18-CUSTODIAL SERVICES
OPERATING FUND CY1B-FINANCIAL SOFTWARE SYSTEM
OPERATING FUND CY18-FOOD SUPPLIES

OPERATING FUND CY18-GROUP INSURANCE
OPERATING FUND CY18-IN STATE TRAVEL

OPERATING FUND CY18-INSURANCE

OPERATING FUND CY18-INTERNET

OPERATING FUND CY18-IT SERVICES

OPERATING FUND CY18-LEGAL SERVICES

OPERATING FUND CY18-MEDICARE

OPERATING FUND CY18-MISC FRINGES

OPERATING FUND CY18-MISC RENTALS

OPERATING FUND CY18-OPEB LIABILITY

OPERATING FUND CY18-OUT OF STATE TRAVEL
OPERATING FUND CY18-OUTREACH/MARKETING SERV
OPERATING FUND CY18-PAYROLL SERVICES
OPERATING FUND CY18-POSTAGE

OPERATING FUND CY18-PRINTING

OPERATING FUND CY18-PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OPERATING FUND CY18-RENT

OPERATING FUND CY18-RETIREMENT

OPERATING FUND CY18-RETIREMENT LIABILITY
OPERATING FUND CY18-SALARIES

OPERATING FUND CY18-SALARY RESERVE

OPERATING FUND CY18-SHIPPING/FREIGHT
OPERATING FUND CY18-SOFTWARE LICENSES
OPERATING FUND CY18-SPONSORSHIPS

OPERATING FUND CY18-SUBSCRIPTIONS

OPERATING FUND CY18-SUPPLIES

OPERATING FUND CY18-TELEPHONES

OPERATING FUND CY18-TREASURY SERVICES
OPERATING FUND CY18-UNPAID BILLS

OPERATING FUND CY18-UTILITIES

TOTAL EXPENSES

CHANGE IN NET POSITION

Budget
Amount

848,765.00
0.00
0.00

848,765.00

63,508.45
11,250.00
0.00
2,927.71
24.30
98,502.00
4,438.00
2,800.00
5,719.00
19,790.00
10,999.99
13,294.50
3,345.71
5,000.00
288,813.36
2,060.00
585.00
1,270.00
7,100.00
600.00
23,000.00
2,870.23
17,000.00
12,500.00
579.00
22,500.00
35,447.00
5,300.00
119,559.10
0.00
100.00
3,750.00
35,000.00
12,391.65
500.00
4,540.00
11,300.00
0.00
400.00

848,765.00

0.00

Actual
Amount

848,765.00
79,012.57
150.00

927,927.57

60,365.28
4,687.50
0.00
2927.71
24.30
98,001.54
3,935.12
2,800.00
5,713.76
17,855.88
8,079.00
13,294.50
3,345.71
2,212.20
288,813.36
1,704.80
399.40
1,199.86
0.00
516.32
22,296.92
2,870.23
15,903.54
11,772.32
578.50
22,500.00
0.00

0.00
117,845.12
0.00
49.98
3,244.58
34,605.00
12,391 65
147.48
4,103.37
10,747.50
0.00
360.00

775,382.43

152,545.14

Remaining
Amount

0.00
(79,012.57)
{150.00)

(79,162.57)

3,143.17
6,562.50
0.00
0.00
0.00
500.46
502.88
0.00
524
1,934.12
2,920.99
0.00
0.00
2,787.80
0.00
355,20
185.60
70.14
7,100.00
83.68
703.08
0.00
1,096.46
727.68
0.50
0.00
35,447.00
5,300.00
1,713.98
0.00
50.02
505.42
305.00
0.00
352.52
436.63
552.50
0.00
40.00

73,382.57

Remaining
%

0.00%

4.95%
58.33%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.51%
11.33%
0.00%
0.09%
977%
26.55%
0.00%
0.00%
55.76%
0.00%
17.24%
31.73%
5.52%
100.00%
13.95%
3.06%
0.00%
6.45%
5.82%
0.09%
0.00%
100.00%
100.00%
1.43%
0.00%
50.02%
13.48%
0.87%
0.00%
70.50%
9.62%
4.89%
0.00%
10.00%

B.65%




Cape Light Compact
Power Supply Reserve Fund and Operating Fund
Analysis of Fund Balance

Balance at December 31, 2016
FY2017 Activity:
Mil Adder Revenue
Renewable Energy Certificate {Net)
Transfer from Operating Fund
Transfer to Operating Fund
Interest Income
Operating expenses
Total Activity

Fund Balance at December 31, 2017

FY2018 Operating Budget

Fund Balance at December 31, 2017 after funding the FY18
Operating Budget

Fund Balance at December 31, 2017
FY2018 Activity:
Mil Adder Revenue received
Estimated additional Mil Adder Revenue to be collected
Transfer to Operating Fund
Capital Credits
Misc Income
Interest Income
Operating expenses
Total Activity

Fund Balance at December 31, 2018

FY2019 Operating Budget

Fund Balance at December 31, 2018 after funding the FY19
Operating Budget

1/9/2019 11:30 AM

Power Supply Qperating Total
1,563,818.80 297,792.42  1,861,611.22
945,618.82 . 945,618.82
(93,250.50) . (93,250.50)
271,651.83 {271,651.83) .
{1,979,812.04) 1,979,812.04 .
15,814.12 207.94 16,022.06
. (1,568,144.66) {1,568,144.66)
(839,977.77) 140,223.49  (699,754.28)
723,841.03 438,01591 1,161,856.94
{848,765.00)
313,091.94
723,841.03 438,015.91  1,161,856.94
867,737.14 . 867,737.14
70,000.00 70,000.00
(848,765.00) 848,765.00 )
5,000.00 - 5,000.00
150.00 150.00
8,954.07 79,012.57 87,966.64
= (775,382.43)  {775,382.43)
102,926.21 152,545.14 255,471.35
826,767.24 590,561.05  1,417,328.29

{848,693.00)

568,635.29



Open Meeting Law Guide

and Educational Materials

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

OFFICE OF ATTORNEY GENERAL
MAURA HEALEY

- OCTOBER 2017



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Contents

Open Meeting Law Guide

B T BT B B e S T R L Do S SS0n  ie Me
B R T e i L o s o L s o G 0 Ay T e S
Meetings OF PUBNIC BO™IBS ...ttt s s bbb s b b ramss e bes shmss beesaes bhbS b be kAR aLn Sa b hamna s inan
What constitutes a public Body i aiiimes v st e ey o S it e e e i

What conSHIULES 8 elibmrabiOn? . .. oo veeeeeeesves o e s s boresss e 50 08 08 b 005 F83 14 045 P 0 508 00880084 483 K 0208 10 0B

a W BB

M s e T e S R e G S T PTG
EXECULINE SESEIOM: il inrinerisirisie s e e B S S R sisns i 10

The Ten Purposes for EXecutive SESSI0N ... e e e e s ssansss s sssssse smsms e srsss s s 11
Rermitbe P At a o i S i e i T e T S s I R AR
Ul Partici O o e B B e p T R s I
L o e e L o e T8

R | |

Executive Session Meeting RECOTOS ... s ricsss i s v rmsssess sy eressssssssciscevescnnne 19

Open Session Meeting Records................. R

Open Meeting Law Complaints ... remssn s bs st sesa st s st s B S e )

22
Contaeting the A rerney GanBra] s e R T R R 23

What is the Open Meeting Law complaint procedure? .....cccerinmsmmssss s s s
Opat M eeting Law TralnINEs. i s et s L e T s s i s

Appendix

The Open Meeting Law, G.L. €. 304, §5 18-25 ... csssss s s e ssss s e sasss s s nannan 25
940 CMR 29.00: Open Meeting Law RegUILIONS.........coiiiiiiiiii s e 36
Certificate of Receipt of Open Meeting Law Materials. ... is e 48

2lPagn
I ad g1



Dear Massachusetts Residents:

One of the most important functions of the Attorney General’s Office is to promote
openness and transparency in government. Every resident of Massachusetts should be able to
access and understand the reasoning behind the government policy decisions that affect our
lives. My office is working to achieve that goal through fair and consistent enforcement of the
Open Meeting Law, along with robust educational outreach about the law’s requirements,

The Open Meeting Law requires that most meetings of public bodies be held in public,
and it establishes rules that public bodies must follow in the creation and maintenance of
records relating to those meetings. Our office is dedicated to providing educational materials,
outreach and training sessions to ensure that members of public bodies and citizens
understand their rights and responsibilities under the law.

Whether you are a town clerk or town manager, a member of a public body, or a
concerned citizen, | want to thank you for taking the time to understand the Open Meeting
Law. |f you would like additional guidance on the law, I encourage you to contact my Division
of Open Government at {617} 963-2540 or visit our website at
www.mass.gov/ago/openmeeting for more information.

Sincerely,

L e

Maura Healey
Massachusetts Attorney General



Attorney General’s
Open Meeting Law Guide

Overview

Purpose of the Law

The purpose of the Open Meeting Law is to ensure transparency in the deliberations on
which public policy is based. Because the democratic process depends on the public having
knowledge about the considerations underlying governmental action, the Open Meeting Law
requires, with some exceptions, that meetings of public bodies be open to the public. It also
seeks to balance the public’s interest in witnessing the deliberations of public officials with the
government’s need to manage its operations efficiently.

Attorney General's Authority

The Open Meeting Law was revised as part of the 2009 Ethics Reform Bill, and now
centralizes responsibility for statewide enforcement of the law in the Attorney General’s Office.
G.L. c. 30A, § 19(a). To help public bodies understand and comply with the law, the Attorney
General has created the Division of Open Government. The Division of Open Government
provides training, responds to inquiries, investigates complaints, and when necessary, makes
findings and orders remedial action to address violations of the law. The purpose of this Guide
is to inform elected and appointed members of public bodies, as well as the interested public,
of the basic requirements of the law.

Certification

Within two weeks of a member’s election or appointment or the taking of the oath of
office, whichever occurs later, all members of public bodies must complete the attached
Certificate of Receipt of Open Meeting Law Materials certifying that they have received these
materials, and that they understand the requirements of the Open Meeting Law and the
consequences of violating it. The certification must be retained where the public body
maintains its official records. All public body members should familiarize themselves with the
Open Meeting Law, the Attorney General's regulations, this Guide, and Open Meeting Law
determinations issued to the member’s public body within the last five years in which the
Attorney General found a violation of the law.

q—ji'ﬂ‘



In the event a Certificate has not yet been completed by a presently serving member of
a public body, the member should complete and submit the Certificate at the earliest
opportunity to be considered in compliance with the law. A public body member must sign a
new Certificate upon reelection or reappointment to the public body but need not sign a
Certificate when joining a subcommittee.

Open Meeting Law Website

This Guide is intended to be a clear and concise explanation of the Open Meeting Law’s
requirements. The complete law, as well as the Attorney General’s regulations, training
materials, and determinations and declinations as to complaints can be found on the Attorney
General's Open Meeting website, www.mass.gov/ago/openmeeting. Members of public
bodies, other local and state government officials, and the public are encouraged to visit the
website regularly for updates on the faw and the Attorney General’s interpretations of it.

Meetings of Public Bodies

What meetings are covered by the Open Meeting Law?

With certain exceptions, all meetings of a public body must be open to the public. A
meeting is generally defined as "a deliberation by a public body with respect to any matter
within the body’s jurisdiction.” As explained more fully below, a deliberation is a
communication between or among members of a public body.

These four questions will help determine whether a communication constitutes a
meeting subject to the law:

1) is the communication between or among members of a public body;

2} if so, does the communication constitute a deliberation;

3} does the communication involve a matter within the body’s jurisdiction; and
4} if so, does the communication fall within an exception listed in the law?

What constitutes a public body?

While there is no comprehensive list of public bodies, any multi-member board,
commission, committee or subcommittee within the executive or legislative branches? of state
government, or within any county, district, city, region or town, if established to serve a public
purpose, is subject to the law. The law includes any multi-member body created to advise or
make recommendations to a public body, and also includes the governing board of any local
housing or redevelopment authority, and the governing board or body of any authority
established by the Legislature to serve a public purpose. The law excludes the Legislature and

Although the Legislature itself is not a public body subject to the Open Meeting Law, certain legislative
commissions must follow the Law’s requirements.

: S|Page



its committees, bodies of the judicial branch, and bodies appointed by a constitutional officer
solely for the purpose of advising a constitutional officer.

Boards of sefectmen and school committees {including those of charter schools) are
certainly subject to the Open Meeting Law, as are subcommittees of public bodies, regardless
of whether their role is decision-making or advisory. Individual government officials, such as a
town manager or police chief, and members of their staff are not subject to the law, and so
they may meet with one another to discuss public business without needing to comply with
Open Meeting Law requirements. This exception for individual officials to the general Open
Meeting Law does not apply where such officials are serving as members of a multiple-member
public body that is subject to the law.

Bodies appointed by a public official solely for the purpose of advising the official on a
decision that individual could make alone are not public bodies subject to the Open Meeting
Law. For example, a school superintendent appoints a five-member advisory body to assist her
in nominating candidates for school principal, a task the superintendent could perform herself.
That advisory body would not be subject to the Open Meeting Law.?

What constitutes a deliberation?

The Open Meeting Law defines deliberation as “an oral or written communication
through any medium, including electronic mail, between or among a quorum of a public body
on any public business within its jurisdiction.” Distribution of a meeting agenda, scheduling or
procedural information, or reports or documents that may be discussed at a meeting is often
helpful to public body members when preparing for upcoming meetings. These types of
communications generally will not constitute deliberation, provided that, when these materials
are distributed, no member of the public body expresses an opinion on matters within the
body's jurisdiction, Additionally, certain communications that may otherwise be considered
deliberation are specifically exempt by statute from the definition of deliberation (for example,
discussion of the recess and continuance of a Town Meeting pursuant to G.L. ¢, 39, § 10A(a) is
not deliberation).

To be a deliberation, the communication must involve a quorum of the public body. A
quorum is usually a simple majority of the members of a public body. Thus, a communication
among less than a quorum of the members of a public body will not be a deliberation, unless
there are multiple communications among the members of the public body that together
constitute communication among a quorum of members. Courts have held that the Open
Meeting Law applies when members of a public body communicate in a serial manner in order
to evade the application of the law.

Note that the expression of an opinion on matters within the body's jurisdiction to a
quorum of a public body is a deliberation, even if no other public body member responds. For

2 See Connelly v. School Committee of Hanover, 409 Mass. 232 (1991).

El Pa g



example, if a member of a public body sends an email to a quorum of a public body expressing
her opinion on a matter that could come before that body, this communication violates the law
even if none of the recipients responds.

What matters are within the jurisdiction of the public body?

The Open Meeting Law applies only to the discussion of any “matter within the body’s
jurisdiction.” The law does not specifically define “jurisdiction.” As a general rule, any matter
of public business on which a quorum of the public body may make a decision or
recommendation is considered a matter within the jurisdiction of the public body. Certain
discussions regarding procedura! or administrative matters may also relate to public business
within a body's jurisdiction, such as where the discussion involves the organization and
leadership of the public body, committee assignments, or rules or bylaws for the body.
Statements made for political purposes, such as where a public body’s members characterize
their own past achievements, generally are not considered communications on public business
within the jurisdiction of the public body.

What are the exceptions to the definition of a meeting?

There are five exceptions to the definition of a meeting under the Open Meeting Law.

1. Members of a public body may conduct an on-site inspection of a project or program;
however, they may not deliberate at such gatherings;

2. Members of a public body may attend a conference, training program or event;
however, they may not deliberate at such gatherings;

3. Members of a public body may attend a meeting of another public body provided that
they communicate only by open participation; however, they may not deliberate at such
gatherings;

4. Meetings of quasi-judicial boards or commissions held solely to make decisions in an
adjudicatory proceeding are not subject to the Open Meeting Law; and

5. Town Meetings, which are subject to other legal requirements, are not governed by the
Open Meeting Law. See, e.g. G.L. c. 39, §§ 9, 10 (establishing procedures for Town
Meeting).

The Attorney General interprets the exemption for “quasi-judicial boards or
commissions” to apply only to certain state “quasi-judicial” bodies and a very limited number of
public bodies at other levels of government whose proceedings are specifically defined as
“agencies” for purposes of G.L. c. 30A.

We have received several inquiries about the exception for Town Meeting and whether
it applies to meetings outside of a Town Meeting session by Town Meeting members or Town
Meeting committees or to deliberation by members of a public body — such as a board of
selectmen — during a session of Town Meeting. The Attorney General interprets this exemption
to mean that the Open Meeting Law does not reach any aspect of Town Meeting. Therefore,

7|3".-!.,|'



the Attorney General will not investigate complaints alleging violations in these
situations. Note, however, that this is a matter of interpretation and future Attorneys General
may choose to apply the law in such situations.

Notice

What are the requirements for posting natice of meetings?

Except in cases of emergency, a public body must provide the public with notice of its
meeting 48 hours in advance, excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays. Notice of
emergency meetings must be posted as soon as reasonably possible prior to the meeting. Also
note that other laws, such as those governing procedures for public hearings, may require
additional notice.

What are the requirements for filing and posting meeting notices for local public bodies?

For local public bodies, meeting notices must be filed with the municipal clerk with
enough time to permit posting of the notice at least 48 hours in advance of the public meeting.
Notices may be posted on a bulletin board, in a loose-leaf binder, or on an electronic display
(e.g. television, computer monitor, or an electronic bulletin board}, provided that the notice is
conspicuously visible to the public at all hours in, on, or near the municipal building in which the
clerk’s office is located. In the event that meeting notices posted in the municipal building are
not visible to the public at all hours, then the municipality must either post notices on the
outside of the building or adopt the municipal website as the official method of notice posting.

Prior to utilizing the municipal website, the Chief Executive Officer of the municipality
must authorize or vote to adopt such website as the official method of posting notice. The
clerk of the municipality must inform the Division of Open Government of its notice posting
method and must inform the Division of any future changes to that posting method. Public
bodies must consistently use the most current notice posting method on file with the Division.
A description of the website, including directions on how to locate notices on the website, must
also be posted on or adjacent to the main and handicapped accessible entrances to the building
where the clerk’s office is located. Note that meeting notices must still be available in or
around the clerk’s office so that members of the public may view the notices during normal
business hours.

What are the requirements for posting notices for regional, district, county and state public
bodies?

For regional or district public bodies and regional school districts, meeting notices must
be filed and posted in the same manner required of local public bodies in each of the
communities within the region or district. As an alternative method of notice, a regional or

8 I Page



district public body may post a meeting notice on the regional or district public body’s website.
The regional school district committee must file and post notice of the website address, as well
as directions on how to locate notices on the website, in each city and town within the region
or district. A copy of the notice must be filed and kept by the chair of the public body or the
chair’s designee.

County public bodies must file meeting notices in the office of the county
commissioners and post notice of the meeting in a manner conspicuously visible to the public
at all hours at a place or places designated by the county commissioners for notice postings. As
an alternative method of notice, a county public body may post notice of meetings on the
county public body’s website. The county public body must file and post notice of the website
address, as well as directions on how to locate notices an the website, in the office of the
county commissioners. A copy of the notice shall be filed and kept by the chair of the county
public body or the chair’s designee.

State public bodies must post meeting notices on the website of the public body or its
parent agency. The chair of a state public body must notify the Attorney General in writing of
the specific webpage location where notices will be posted and of any subsequent changes to
that posting location. A copy of each meeting notice must also be sent to the Secretary of
State’s Regulations Division and should be forwarded to the Executive Office of Administration
and Finance, which maintains a listing of state public body meetings.

Where a public body adopts a website as the official method of posting notices, it must
make every effort to ensure that the website is accessible at all hours. If a website becomes
inaccessible within 48 hours of a meeting, not including Saturdays, Sundays or legal holidays,
the website must be restored within six business hours of the discovery. If the website is not
restored within six business hours, the public body must re-post notice of its meeting to
another date and time, in accordance with the requirements of the Open Meeting Law.

A note about accessibility

Public bodies are subject to all applicable state and federal laws that govern accessibility
for persons with disabilities. These laws include the Americans with Disabilities Act, the federal
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and state constitutional provisions. For instance, public bodies that
adopt website posting as an alternative method of notice must ensure that the website is
readily accessible to people with disabilities, including individuals who use screen readers. All
open meetings of public bodies must be accessible to persons with disabilities. Meeting
locations must be accessible by wheelchair, without the need for special assistance. Also sign
language interpreters for deaf or hearing-impaired persons must be provided, subject to
reasonable advance notice.? The Attorney General’s Disability Rights Project is available to
answer questions about accessibility and may be reached at

* The Massachusetts Commission for the Deaf and Hard of Hearing will assist with arrangements for a sign
language interpreter. The Commission may be reached at 617-740-1600 VOICE and 617-740-1700 TTY.

9|Page



{617) 963-2939.

What information must meeting notices contain?

Meeting notices must be posted in a legible, easily understandable format; contain the
date, time, and place of the meeting; and list all topics that the chair reasonably anticipates, 48
hours in advance, will be discussed at the meeting. The list of topics must be sufficiently
specific to reasonably inform the public of the issues to be discussed at the meeting. Where
there are no anticipated topics for discussion in open session other than the procedural
requirements for convening an executive session, the public body should list “open session” as
a topic, in addition to the executive session, so the public is aware that it has the opportunity to
attend and learn the basis for the executive session.

Meeting notices must also indicate the date and time that the notice was posted, either
on the notice itself or in a document or website accompanying the notice. If a notice is revised,
the revised notice must also conspicuously record both the date and time the original notice
was posted as well as the date and time the last revision was posted. Recording the date and
time enables the public to observe that public bodies are complying with the Open Meeting
Law’s notice requirements without requiring constant vigilance. Additionally, in the event of a
complaint, it provides the Attorney General with evidence of compliance with those
requirements.

If a discussion topic is proposed after 3 meeting notice is posted, and it was not
reasonably anticipated by the chair more than 48 hours before the meeting, the public body
should update its posting to provide the public with as much notice as possible of what subjects
will be discussed during the meeting. Although a public body may consider a topic that was not
listed in the meeting notice if it was not anticipated, the Attorney General strongly encourages
public bodies to postpone discussion and action on topics that are controversial or may be of
particular interest to the public if the topic was not listed in the meeting notice.

Executive Session

When can a public body meet in executive session?

While all meetings of public bodies must be open to the public, certain topics may be
discussed in executive, or closed, session. Before going into an executive session, the chair of
the public body must first:

« Convene in open session;

e State the reason for the executive session, stating all subjects that may be revealed
without compromising the purpose for which the executive session was called;

e State whether the public body will reconvene in open session at the end of the
executive session; and

10 1 Page



» Take aroll call vote of the body to enter executive session.

Where a public body member is participating in an executive session remotely, the
member must state at the start of the executive session that no other person is present or able
to hear the discussion at the remote location. The public bady may authorize, by a simple
majority vote, the presence and participation of other individuals at the remote participant’s
location.

While in executive session, the public body must keep accurate records, all votes taken
must be recorded by roll call, and the public body may only discuss matters for which the
executive session was called.

The Ten Purposes for Executive Session

The law states ten specific purposes for which an executive session may be held, and
emphasizes that these are the only reasons for which a public body may enter executive
session.

The ten purposes for which a public body may vote to hold an executive session are:

1. To discuss the reputation, character, physical condition or mental health, rather than
professional competence, of an individual, or to discuss the discipline or dismissal of,
or complaints or charges brought against, a public officer, employee, staff member or
individual. The individual to be discussed in such executive session shall be notified in
writing by the public body at least 48 hours prior to the proposed executive session;
provided, however, that notification may be waived upon written agreement of the
parties.

This purpose is designed to protect the rights and reputation of individuals.
Nevertheless, where a public body is discussing an employee evaluation, considering
applicants for a position, or discussing the qualifications of any individual, these
discussions should be held in open session to the extent that the discussion deals with
issues other than the reputation, character, health, or any complaints or charges against
the individual. An executive session called for this purpose triggers certain rights for the
individual who is the subject of the discussion. The individual has the right to be
present, though he or she may choose not to attend. The individual who is the subject
of the discussion may also choose to have the discussion in an open meeting, and that
choice takes precedence over the right of the public body to go into executive session.

While the imposition of disciplinary sanctions by a public body on an individual
fits within this purpose, this purpose does not apply if, for example, the public body is
deciding whether to lay off a large number of employees because of budgetary
constraints.

11]Page



2.

To conduct strategy sessions in preparation for negotiations with nonunion personnel
or to conduct collective bargaining sessions or contract negotiations with nonunion
personnel;

Generally, a public body must identify the specific non-union personnel or
collective bargaining unit with which it is negotiating before entering into executive
session under Purpose 2. A public body may withhold the identity of the non-union
personnel or bargaining unit if publicly disclosing that information would compromise
the purpose for which the executive session was called. While we generally defer to
public bodies’ assessment of whether the inclusion of such details would compromise
the purpose for an executive session, a public body must be able to demonstrate a
reasonable basis for that claim if challenged.

While a public body may agree on terms with individual non-union personnel! in
executive session, the final vote to execute such agreements must be taken by the
public body in open session. In contrast, a public body may approve final terms and
execute a collective bargaining agreement in executive session, but should promptly
disclose the agreement in open session following its execution.

Collective Bargaining Sessions: These include not only the bargaining sessions,
but also include grievance hearings that are required by a collective bargaining
agreement.

To discuss strategy with respect to collective bargaining or litigation if an open
meeting may have a detrimental effect on the bargaining or litigating position of the
public body and the chair so declares;

Generally, a public body must identify the collective bargaining unit with which it
is negotiating or the litigation matter it is discussing before entering into executive
session under Purpose 3. A public body may withhold the identity of the collective
bargaining unit or name of the litigation matter if publicly disclosing that information
would compromise the purpose for which the executive session was called. While we
generally defer to public bodies’ assessment of whether the inclusion of such details
would compromise the purpose for an executive session, a public body must be able to
demonstrate a reasonable basis for that claim if challenged.

Collective Bargaining Strategy: Discussions with respect to collective bargaining
strategy include discussion of proposals for wage and benefit packages or working
conditions for union employees. The public body, if challenged, has the burden of
proving that an open meeting might have a detrimental effect on its bargaining position.
The showing that must be made is that an open discussion may have a detrimental
effect on the collective bargaining process; the body is not required to demonstrate a
definite harm that would have arisen. At the time the executive session is proposed and

12|:';':'I5_;|'



voted on, the chair must state on the record that having the discussion in an open
session may be detrimental to the public body’s bargaining or litigating position.

Litigation Strategy: Discussions concerning strategy with respect to ongoing
litigation obviously fit within this purpose but only if an open meeting may have a
detrimental effect on the litigating position of the public body. Discussions relating to
potential litigation are not covered by this exemption unless that litigation is clearly and
imminently threatened or otherwise demonstrably likely. That a person is represented
by counsel and supports a position adverse to the public body’s does not by itself mean
that litigation is imminently threatened or likely. Nor does the fact that a newspaper
reports a party has threatened to sue necessarily mean imminent litigation.

Note: For the reasons discussed above, a public body’s discussions with its
counsel do not automatically fall under this or any other purpose for holding an
executive session.

To discuss the deployment of security personnel or devices, or strategies with respect
thereto;

. Toinvestigate charges of criminal misconduct or to consider the filing of criminal
complaints;

This purpose permits an executive session to investigate charges of criminal
misconduct and to consider the filing of criminal complaints. Thus, it primarily involves
discussions that would precede the formal criminal process in court. Purpose 1 is
related, in that it permits an executive session to discuss certain complaints or charges,
which may include criminal complaints or charges, but only those that have already
been brought. However, Purpose 1 confers certain rights of participation on the
individual involved, as well as the right for the individual to insist that the discussion
occur in open session. Purpose 5 does not require that the same rights be given to the
person who is the subject of a criminal complaint. To the limited extent that there is
overlap between Purposes 1 and 5, a public body has discretion to choose which
purpose to invoke when going into executive session.

. To consider the purchase, exchange, lease or value of real property if the chair
declares that an open meeting may have a detrimental effect on the negotiating
position of the public body;

Generally, a public body must identify the specific piece of property it plans to
discuss before entering into executive session under Purpose 6. A public body may
withhold the identity of the property if publicly disclosing that information would
compromise the purpose for which the executive session was called. While we
generally defer to public bodies’ assessment of whether the inclusion of such details

13 |Page



would compromise the purpose for an executive session, a public body must be able to
demonstrate a reasonable basis for that claim if challenged.

Under this purpose, as with the collective bargaining and litigation purpose, an
executive session may be held only where an open meeting may have a detrimental
impact on the body’s negotiating position with a third party. At the time that the
executive session is proposed and voted on, the chair must state on the record that
having the discussion in an open session may be detrimental to the public body's
negotiating position.

. To comply with, or act under the authority of, any general or special law or federal
grant-in-aid requirements;

There may be provisions in state statutes or federal grants that require or
specifically allow a public body to consider a particular issue in a closed session. Before
entering executive session under this purpose, the public body must cite the specific law
or federal grant-in-aid requirement that necessitates confidentiality. A public body may
withhold that information only if publicly disclosing it would compromise the purpose
for which the executive session was called. While we generally defer to public bodies’
assessment of whether the inclusion of such details would compromise the purpose for
an executive session, a public body must be able to demonstrate a reasonable basis for
that claim if challenged.

. To consider or interview applicants for employment or appointment by a preliminary
screening committee if the chair declares that an open meeting will have a
detrimental effect in obtaining qualified applicants; provided, however, that this
clause shall not apply to any meeting, including meetings of a preliminary screening
committee, to consider and interview applicants who have passed a prior preliminary
screening;

This purpose permits a hiring subcommittee of a public body or a preliminary
screening committee to conduct the initial screening process in executive session. This
purpose does not apply to any stage in the hiring process after the screening committee
or subcommittee votes to recommend candidates to its parent body. It may, however,
include a review of résumés and multiple rounds of interviews by the screening
committee aimed at narrowing the group of applicants down to finalists. At the time
that the executive session is proposed and voted on, the chair must state on the record
that having the discussion in an open sessian will be detrimental to the public body's
ability to attract qualified applicants for the position. If the public body opts to convene
a preliminary screening committee, the committee must contain less than a quorum of
the members of the parent public body. The committee may also contain members
who are not members of the parent public body.

14 |Page



Note that a public body is not required to create a preliminary screening
committee to consider or interview applicants. However, if the body chooses to
conduct the review of applicants itself, it may not do so in executive session.

9. Tomeet or confer with a mediator, as defined in section 23C of chapter 233, with
respect to any litigation or decision on any public business within its jurisdiction
involving another party, group or entity, provided that:

(i) any decision to participate in mediation shall be made in an open session and
the parties, issues involved and purpose of the mediation shall be disclosed; and

{ii) no action shall be taken by any public body with respect to those issues which
are the subject of the mediation without deliberation and approval for such
action at an open session.

10. To discuss trade secrets or confidential, competitively-sensitive or other proprietary
information provided:

¢ inthe course of activities conducted by a governmental body as an energy supplier
under a license granted by the department of public utilities pursuant to section 1F
of chapter 164;

* inthe course of activities conducted as a municipal aggregator under section 134 of
said chapter 164; or

* inthe course of activities conducted by a cooperative consisting of governmental
entities organized pursuant to section 136 of said chapter 164;

» when such governmental body, municipal aggregator or cooperative determines
that such disclosure will adversely affect its ability to conduct business in relation to
other entities making, selling or distributing electric power and energy.

Remote Participation

May a member of a public body participate remotely?

The Attorney General’s Regulations, 940 CMR 29.10, permit remote participation in
certain circumstances. However, the Attorney General strongly encourages members of public
bodies to physically attend meetings whenever possible. Members of public bodies have a
responsibility to ensure that remote participation in meetings is not used in a way that would
defeat the purposes of the Open Meeting Law, namely promoting transparency with regard to
deliberations and decisions on which public policy is based.

Note that the Attorney General’s regulations enable members of public bodies to
participate remotely if the practice has been properly adopted, but do not require that a public

body permit members of the public to participate remotely. If a public body chooses to allow

15|Page



individuals who are not members of the public body to participate remotely in a meeting, it
may do so without following the Open Meeting Law’s remote participation procedures.

How can the practice of remote participation be adopted?

Remote participation may be used during a meeting of a public body if it has first been
adopted by the chief executive officer of the municipality for local public bodies, the county
commissioners for county public bodies, or by a majority vote of the public body for retirement
boards, district, regional and state public bodies. The chief executive officer may be the board
of selectmen, the city council, or the mayor, depending on the municipality. See G.L.c. 4, § 7.

If the chief executive officer in a municipality authorizes remote participation, that
authorization applies to all public bodies in the municipality. 940 CMR 29.10(2)(a}. However,
the chief executive officer determines the amount and source of payment for any costs
associated with remote participation and may decide to fund the practice only for certain public
bodies. See 940 CMR 29.10(6)(e). In addition, the chief executive officer can authorize public
bodies in that municipality to "opt out" of the practice altogether. See 940 CMR 25.10(8).

Note about Local Commissions on Disability: Local commissions on disability may decide
by majority vote of the commissioners at a regular meeting to permit remote participation
during a specific meeting or during all commission meetings. G.L. c. 30A, § 20(e). Adoption by
the municipal adopting authority is not required.

What are the permissible reasons for remote participation?

Once remote participation is adopted, any member of a public body may participate
remotely only if physical attendance would be unreasonably difficult.

What are the acceptable means of remote participation?

Acceptable means of remote participation include telephone, internet, or satellite
enabled audio or video conferencing, or any other technology that enables the remote
participant and all persons present at the meeting location to be clearly audible to one another.,
Text messaging, instant messaging, email and web chat without audio are not acceptable
methods of remote participation. Note that accommodations must be made for any public
body member who requires TTY service, video relay service, or other form of adaptive
telecommunications.

What are the minimum requirements for remote participation?

Any public body using remote participation during a meeting must ensure that the following
minimum requirements are met:

16| FPage



1. A quorum of the body, including the chair or, in the chair’s absence, the person chairing
the meeting, must be physically present at the meeting location;

2. Members of a public body who participate remotely and all persons present at the
meeting location must be clearly audible to each other; and

3. Allvotes taken during a meeting in which a member participates remotely must be by
roll call vote.

What procedures must be followed if remote participation is used at a meeting?

At the start of any meeting during which a member of a public body will participate
remotely, the chair must announce the name of any member who is participating remotely;
such information must also be recorded in the meeting minutes. The chair’s statement does
not need to contain any detail about the reason for the member’s remote participation.

Members of public bodies who participate remotely may vote and shall not be deemed
absent for purposes of G.L. c. 39, § 23D. In addition, members who participate remotely may
participate in executive sessions but must state at the start of any such session that no other
person is present or able to hear the discussion at the remote location, unless the public body
has approved the presence of that individual.

If technical difficulties arise as a result of utilizing remote participation, the chair (or, in
the chair’s absence, person chairing the meeting) may decide how to address the situation.
Public bodies are encouraged, whenever possible, to suspend discussion while reasonable
efforts are made to correct any problem that interferes with a remote participant’s ability to
hear or be heard clearly by all persons present at the meeting location. If a remote participant
is disconnected from the meeting, the minutes must note that fact and the time at which the
disconnection occurred.

Public Participation

What public participation in meetings must be allowed?

Under the Open Meeting Law, the public is permitted to attend meetings of public
bodies but is excluded from an executive session that is called for a valid purpose listed in the
law. While the public is permitted to attend an open meeting, an individual may not address
the public body without permission of the chair. An individual may not disrupt a meeting of a
public body, and at the request of the chair, all members of the public shall be silent. If, after
clear warning, a person continues to be disruptive, the chair may order the person to leave the
meeting. If the person does not |leave, the chair may authorize a constable or other officer to
remove the person. Although public participation is entirely within the chair’s discretion, the
Attorney General encourages public bodies to allow as much public participation as time
permits.

17 |Page



Any member of the public may make an audio or video recording of an open session of a
public meeting. A member of the public who wishes to record a meeting must first notify the
chair and must comply with reasonable requirements regarding audio or video equipment
established by the chair so as not to interfere with the meeting. The chair is required to inform
other attendees of any such recording at the beginning of the meeting. If someone arrives after
the meeting has begun and wishes to record a meeting, that person should attempt to notify
the chair prior to beginning recording, ideally in a manner that does not significantly disrupt the
meeting in progress {such as passing a note for the chair to the board administrator or
secretary). The chair should endeavor to acknowledge such attempts at notification and
announce the fact of any recording to those in attendance,

Minutes

What records of public meetings must be kept?

Public bodies are required to create and maintain accurate minutes of all meetings,
including executive sessions. The minutes, which must be created and approved in a timely
manner, must include:

« the date, time and place of the meeting;

= the members present or absent;

e the decisions made and actions taken, including a record of all votes;
= asummary of the discussions on each subject;

e alist of all documents and exhibits used at the meeting; and

e the name of any member who participated in the meeting remotely.

While the minutes must include a summary of the discussions on each subject, a
transcript is not required. No vote taken by a public body, either in an open or in an executive
session, shall be by secret ballot. All votes taken in executive session must be by roll call and
the results recorded in the minutes. While public bodies must identify in the minutes all
documents and exhibits used at a meeting and must retain them in accordance with the
Secretary of the Commonwealth's records retention schedule, these documents and exhibits
needn’t be attached to or physically stored with the minutes.

Minutes, and ali documents and exhibits used, are public records and a part of the
official record of the meeting. Records may be subject to disclosure under either the Open
Meeting Law or Public Records Law. The State and Municipal Record Retention Schedules are
available through the Secretary of the Commonwealth's website at:
http://www.sec.state.ma.usfarc/arcrmu/rmuidx.htm.

Open Session Meeting Records

18'5-'-:'_'|



The Open Meeting Law requires public bodies to create and approve minutes in a timely
manner. A “timely manner” is considered to be within the next three public body meetings or
30 days from the date of the meeting, whichever is later, unless the public body can show good
cause for further delay. The Attorney General encourages minutes to be approved at a public
body’s next meeting whenever possible. The law requires that existing minutes be made
available to the public within ten days of a request, whether they have been approved or
remain in draft form. Materials or other exhibits used by the public body in an open meeting
must also be made available to the public within ten days of a request.

There are two exemptions to the open session records disclosure requirement: 1)
materials {other than those that were created by members of the public body for the purpose
of the evaluation) used in a performance evaluation of an individual bearing on his professional
competence, and 2) materials (other than any résumé submitted by an applicant, which is
subject to disclosure) used in deliberations about employment or appointment of individuals,
including applications and supporting materials. Documents created by members of the public
body for the purpose of performing an evaluation are subject to disclosure. This applies to both
individual evaluations and evaluation compilations, provided the documents were created by
members of the public body for the purpose of the evaluation.

Executive Session Meeting Records

Public bodies are not required to disclose the minutes, notes, or other materials used in
an executive session if the disclosure of these records may defeat the lawful purposes of the
executive session. Once disclosure would no longer defeat the purposes of the executive
session, however, minutes and other records from that executive session must be disclosed
unless they fall within an exemption to the Public Records Law, G.L.c. 4, § 7, cl. 26, or the
attorney-client privilege applies. Public bodies are also required to periodically review their
executive session minutes to determine whether continued non-disclosure is warranted. These
determinations must be included in the minutes of the body’s next meeting.

A public body must respond to a request to inspect or copy executive session minutes
within ten days of the request. If the public body has determined, prior to the request, that the
requested executive session minutes may be released, it must make those minutes available to
the requestor at that time. If the body previously determined that executive session minutes
should remain confidential because publication would defeat the lawful purposes of the
executive session, it should respond by stating the reason the minutes continue to be withheld.
And if, at the time of a request, the public body has not conducted a review of the minutes to
determine whether continued nondisclosure is warranted, the body must perform such a
review and release the minutes, if appropriate, no later than its next meeting or within 30 days,
whichever occurs first. In such circumstances, the body should still respond to the request
within ten days, notifying the requestor that it is conducting this review.

lgf:- d g &



Open Meeting Law Complaints

What is the Attorney General's role in enforcing the Open Meeting Law?

The Attorney General's Division of Open Government is responsible for enforcing the
Open Meeting Law. The Attorney General has the authority to receive and investigate
complaints, bring enforcement actions, issue advisory opinions, and promulgate regulations.

The Division of Open Government regularly seeks feedback from the public on ways in
which it can better support public bodies to help them comply with the law’s requirements.
The Division of Open Government offers periodic online and in-person training on the Open
Meeting Law and will respond to requests for guidance and information from public bodies and
the public.

The Division of Open Government will take complaints from members of the public and
will work with public bodies to resolve problems. While any member of the public may file a
complaint with a public body alleging a violation of the Open Meeting Law, a public body need
not, and the Division of Open Government will not, investigate anonymous complaints.

What is the Open Meeting Law complaint procedure?

Step 1. Filing a Complaint with the Public Body

Individuals who allege a violation of the Open Meeting Law must first file a complaint
with the public body alleged to have violated the OML. The complaint must be filed within 30
days of the date of the violation, or the date the complainant could reasonably have known of
the violation. The complaint must be filed on a Complaint Form available on the Attorney
General’s website, www.mass.gov/ago/openmeeting. When filing a complaint with a local
public body, the complainant must also file a copy of the complaint with the municipal clerk.

Step 2. The Public Body’s Response

Upon receipt, the chair of the public body should distribute copies of the complaint to
the members of the public body for their review. The public body has 14 business days from
the date of receipt to meet to review the complainant’s allegations, take remedial action if
appropriate, notify the complainant of the remedial action, and forward a copy of the
complaint and description of the remedial action taken to the complainant. The public body
must simultaneously notify the Attorney General that it has responded to the complainant and
provide the Attorney General with a copy of the response and a description of any remedial
action taken. While the public body may delegate responsibility for responding to the
complaint to counsel or another individual, it must first meet to do so. A public body is not
required to respond to unsigned complaints or complaints not made on the Attorney General's
camplaint form.

20|Pag:



The public body may request additional information from the complainant within seven
business days of receiving the complaint. The complainant then has ten business days to
respond; the public body will then have an additional ten business days after receiving the
complainant’s response to review the complaint and take remedial action. The public body
may also request an extension of time to respond to the complaint. A request for an extension
should be made within 14 business days of receipt of the complaint by the public body. The
request for an extension should be made in writing to the Division of Open Government and
should include a copy of the complaint and state the reason for the requested extension.

Step 3. Filing o Complaint with the Attorney General’s Office

A complaint is ripe for review by the Attorney General 30 days after the complaint is
filed with the public body. This 30-day period is intended to provide a reasonable opportunity
for the complainant and the public body to resolve the initial complaint. It is important to note
that complaints are not automatically treated as filed for review by the Attorney General upon
filing with the public body. A complainant who has filed a complaint with a public body and
seeks further review by the Division of Open Government must file the complaint with the
Attorney General after the 30-day local review period has elapsed but before 90 days have
passed since the date of the violation or the date that the violation was reasonably
discoverable.

When filing the complaint with the Attorney General, the complainant must include a
copy of the original complaint and may include any other materials the complainant feels are
relevant, including an explanation of why the complainant is not satisfied with the response of
the public body. Note, however, that the Attorney General will not review allegations that
were not raised in the initial complaint filed with the public body. Under most circumstances,
complaints filed with the Attorney General, and any documents submitted with the complaint,
will be considered a public record and will be made available to anyone upon request.

The Attorney General will review the complaint and any remedial action taken by the
public body. The Attorney General may request additional information from both the
complainant and the public body. The Attorney General will seek to resolve complaints in a
reasonable period of time, generally within 80 days of the complaint becoming ripe for review
by our office. The Attorney General may decline to investigate a complaint that is filed with our
office more than 90 days after the date of the alleged violation.

May a public body request mediation to resolve a complaint?

If a complainant files five complaints with the same public body or within the same
municipality within 12 months, the public body may request mediation upon the fifth or
subsequent complaint in order to resolve the complaint. The public body must request
mediation prior to, or with, its response to the complaint, and will assume the expense of such
mediation. If the parties cannot come to an agreement after mediation, the public body will

21| Page



have ten business days to respond to the complaint and its resolution will proceed in the
normal course.

Mediation may occur in open session or in executive session under Purpose 9. in
addition, a public body may designate a representative to participate on behalf of the public
body. If mediation does not resolve the complaint to each party's satisfaction, the complainant
may file the complaint with the Attorney General. The complaint must be filed within 30 days
of the last joint meeting with the mediator.

The mediator will be chosen by the Attorney General. If the complainant declines to
participate in mediation after a request by the public body, the Attorney General may decline
to review a complaint thereafter filed with our office. A public body may always request
mediation to resolve a complaint, but only mediation requested upon a fifth or subsequent
complaint triggers the requirement that the complainant participate in the mediation before
the Attorney General will review the complaint.

Any written agreement reached in mediation must be disclosed at the public body’s
next meeting following execution of the agreement and will become a public record.

When is a violation of the law considered “intentional”?

Upon finding a violation of the Open Meeting Law, the Attorney General may impose a
civil penalty upon a public body of not more than $1,000 for each intentional violation. G.L. c.
304, § 23(cH{4). An "“intentional violation” is an act or omission by a public body or public body
member in knowing violation of the Open Meeting Law. G.L. c. 30A, § 18. In determining
whether a violation was intentional, the Attorney General will consider, among other things,
whether the public body or public body member 1) acted with specific intent to violate the law;
2) acted with deliberate ignorance of the law’s requirements; or 3) had been previously
informed by a court decision or advised by the Attorney General that the conduct at issue
violated the Open Meeting Law. 940 CMR 29.02. If a public body or public body member made
a good faith attempt at compliance with the law but was reasonably mistaken about its
requirements, its conduct will not be considered an intentional violation of the Law. G.L. c.
30A, § 23(g); 940 CMR 29.02. A fine will not be imposed where a public body or public body
member acted in good faith compliance with the advice of the public body's legal counsel. G.L.
30A, § 23(g); 940 CMR 29.07.

Will the Attorney General’s Office provide training on the Open
Meeting Law?

The Open Meeting Law directs the Attorney General to create educational materials and
provide training to public bodies to foster awareness of and compliance with the Open Meeting
Law. The Attorney General has established an Open Meeting Law website,

22|Page



www.mass.gov/ago/openmeeting, on which government officials and members of public

bodies can find the statute, regulations, FAQs, training materials, the Attorney General’s
determination letters resolving complaints, and other resources. The Attorney General offers
periodic webinars and in-person regional training events for members of the public and public
bodies, in addition to offering a free online training video.

Contacting the Attorney General

If you have any questions about the Open Meeting Law or anything contained in this
guide, please contact the Attorney General’s Division of Open Government. The Attorney
General also welcomes any comments, feedback, or suggestions you may have about the Open
Meeting Law or this guide.

Division of Open Government
Office of the Attorney General
One Ashburton Place
Boston, MA 02108
Tel: 617-963-2540

www.mass.gov/ago/openmeeting
OpenMeeting@state.ma.us

23lPage



Appendix

24| Pag:



The Open Meeting Law, G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18-254

Chapter 28 of the Acts of 2009, sections 17-20, repealed the existing state Open Meeting Law, G.L.
c. 30A, 8§ 11A, 11A-1/2, county Open Meeting Law, G.L. c. 34, §9F, 9G, and municipal Open Meeting
Law, G.L. c. 39, §§ 23A, 23B, and 23C, and replaced them with a single Open Meeting Law covering alf
public bodies, G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18-25, enforced by the Attorney General.

Section 18: [DEFINITIONS]

As used in this section and sections 19 to 25, inclusive, the following words shall, unless the
context clearly requires otherwise, have the following rmeanings:

“Deliberation”, an oral or written communication through any medium, including electronic mail,
between or among a quorum of a public body on any public business within its jurisdiction; provided,
however, that “deliberation” shall not include the distribution of a meeting agenda, scheduling
information or distribution of other procedural meeting or the distribution of reports or documents
that may be discussed at a meeting, provided that no opinion of a member is expressed.

“Emergency”, a sudden, generally unexpected occurrence or set of circumstances demanding
immediate action,

“Executive session”, any part of a meeting of a public body closed to the public for deliberation of
certain matters.

“Intentional violation”, an act or omission by a public body or @ member thereof, in knowing
violation of the open meeting law.

“Meeting”, a deliberation by a public body with respect to any matter within the body’s
jurisdiction; provided, however, “meeting” shall not include:

(a} anon-site inspection of a project or program, so long as the members do not deliberate;

(b} attendance by a quorum of a public body at a public or private gathering, including a
conference or training program or a media, social or other event, so long as the members do
not deliberate;

{c) attendance by a quorum of a public body at a meeting of another public body that has
complied with the notice requirements of the open meeting law, so long as the visiting
members communicate only by open participation in the meeting on those matters under
discussion by the host body and do not deliberate; a meeting of a quasi-judicial board or
commission held for the sole purpose of making a decision required in an adjudicatory
proceeding brought before it; or

(d) a session of a town meeting convened under section 9 of chapter 39 which would include
the attendance by a guorum of a public body at any such session.

{e) “Minutes”, the written report of a meeting created by a public body required by subsection (a)

* NOTICE: This is NOT the official version of the Massachusetts General Law (MGL). While reasonable effarts have
been made to ensure the accuracy and currency of the data provided, do not rely on this information without first
checking an official edition of the MGL,

25 | Page



of section 22 and section 5A of chapter 66.

“Open meeting law”, sections 18 to 25, inclusive.

“Post notice”, to display conspicucusly the written announcement of a meeting either in hard
copy or electronic format.

“Preliminary screening”, the initial stage of screening applicants conducted by a committee or
subcommittee of a public body solely for the purpose of providing to the public body a list of those
applicants qualified for further consideration or interview.

"Public body”, a multiple-member board, commission, committee or subcommittee within the
executive or legislative branch or within any county, district, city, region or town, however created,
elected, appointed or otherwise constituted, established to serve a public purpose; provided,
however, that the governing board of a local housing, redevelopment or other similar authority shall
be deemed a local public body; provided, further, that the governing board or body of any other
authority established by the general court to serve a public purpose in the commonwealth or any
part thereof shall be deemed a state public body; provided, further, that “public body” shall not
include the general court or the committees or recess commissions thereof, badies of the judicial
branch or bodies appointed by a constitutional officer solely for the purpose of advising a
constitutional officer and shall not include the board of bank incorporation or the policyholders
protective board; and provided further, that a subcommittee shall include any multiple-member
body created to advise or make recommendations to a public body.

“Quorum”, a simple majority of the members of the public body, unless otherwise provided in a
general or special law, executive order or other authorizing provision.

Section 19. Division of Open Government; Open Meeting Law Training; Open Meeting Law
Advisory Commission; Annual Report
{a) There shall be in the department of the attorney general a division of open government under
the direction of a director of open government. The attorney general shall designate an
assistant attorney general as the director of the open government division. The director may
appoint and remove, subject to the approval of the attorney general, such expert, clerical and
other assistants as the work of the division may require. The division shall perform the duties
imposed upon the attorney general by
{b} the open meeting law, which may include participating, appearing and intervening in any
administrative and judicial proceedings pertaining to the enforcement of the open meeting
law. For the purpose of such participation, appearance, intervention and training authorized
by this chapter the attorney general may expend such funds as may be appropriated therefor,
{c) The attorney general shall create and distribute educational materials and provide training
to public bodies in order to foster awarenass and compliance with the open meeting law.
Open meeting law training may include, but shall not be limited to, instruction in:
1. the general background of the legal requirements for the open meeting law;
2. applicability of sections 18 to 25, inclusive, to governmental bodies;
3. the role of the attorney general in enforcing the open meeting law; and
4. penalties and other consequences for failure to comply with this chapter.

6|Page



(d) There shall be an open meeting law advisory commission. The commission shall consist of 5

(e)

(f)

members, 2 of whom shall be the chairmen of the joint committee on state administration
and regulatory oversight; 1 of whom shall be the president of the Massachusetts Municipal
Association or his designee; 1 of whom shall be the president of the Massachusetts
Newspaper Publishers Association or his designee; and 1 of whom shall be the attorney
general or his designee.
The commission shall review issues relative to the open meeting law and shall submit to the
attorney general recommendations for changes to the regulations, trainings, and educational
initiatives relative to the open meeting law as it deems necessary and appropriate.
The attorney general shall, not later than lanuary 31, file annually with the commission a report
providing information on the enforcement of the open meeting law during the preceding
calendar year. The report shall include, but not be limited to:
1. the number of open meeting law complaints received by the attorney general;
2. the number of hearings convened as the result of open meeting law complaints by
the attorney general;
3. asummary of the determinations of violations made by the attorney general;
4. asummary of the orders issued as the result of the determination of an open
meeting law viclation by the attorney general;
5. anaccounting of the fines obtained by the attorney general as the result of open
meeting law enforcement actions;
6. the number of actions filed in superior court seeking relief from an order of the
attorney general; and
7. any additional information relevant to the administration and enforcement of the
open meeting law that the attorney general deems appropriate.

Section 20. Meetings of a Public Body to be Open to the Public; Notice of Meeting; Remote
Participation; Recording and Transmission of Meeting; Removal of Persons for Disruption of
Proceedings

(a)
(b)

(c}

(d)

Except as provided in section 21, all meetings of a public body shall be open to the public.
Except in an emergency, in addition to any notice otherwise required by law, a public body
shall post notice of every meeting at least 48 hours prior to such meeting, excluding
Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays. In an emergency, a public body shall post notice as
soon as reasonably possible prior to such meeting. Notice shall be printed in a legible, easily
understandable format and shall contain the date, time and place of such meeting and a
listing of topics that the chair reasonably anticipates will be discussed at the meeting.

For meetings of a local public body, notice shall be filed with the municipal clerk and posted in
a manner conspicuously visible to the public at all hours in or on the municipal building in
which the clerk’s office is located.

For meetings of a regional or district public body, notice shall be filed and posted in each city
or town within the region or district in the manner prescribed for local public bodies. For
meetings of a regional school district, the secretary of the regional school district committee

27| Paga



(e}

{f}

(g)

(h)

(i)

shall be considered to be its clerk and shall file notice with the clerk of each city or town within
such district and shall post the notice in the manner prescribed for local public bodies. For
meetings of a county public body, notice shall be filed in the office of the county
commissioners and a copy of the notice shall be publicly posted in a manner conspicuously
visible to the public at all hours in such place or places as the county commissioners shall
designate for the purpose.

For meetings of a state public body, notice shall be filed with the attorney general by posting
on a website in accordance with procedures established for this purpose and a duplicate copy
of the notice shall be filed with the regulations division of the state secretary’s office.

The attorney general shall have the authority to prescribe or approve alternative methods of
notice where the attorney general determines such alternative will afford more effective notice
to the public.

The attorney general may by regulation or letter ruling, authorize remote participation by
members of a public body not present at the meeting location; provided, however, that the
absent members and all persons present at the meeting location are clearly audible to each
other; and provided, further, that a quorum of the body, including the chair, are present at
the meeting location. Such authorized members may vote and shall not be deemed absent for
the purposes of section 23D of chapter 39.

A local commission on disability may by majority vote of the commissioners at a regular
meeting authorize remote participation applicable to a specific meeting or generally to all of
the commission's meetings. If a local commission on disability is authorized to utilize remote
participation, a physical quorum of that commission’s members shall not be required to be
present at the meeting location; provided, however, that the chair or, in the chair’s absence,
the person authorized to chair the meeting, shall be physically present at the meeting location.
The commission shall comply with all other requirements of law.

No person shall address a meeting of a public body without permission of the chair, and all
persons shall, at the request of the chair, be silent. No person shall disrupt the proceedings of a
meeting of a public body. if, after clear warning from the chair, a person continues to disrupt
the proceedings, the chair may order the person to withdraw from the meeting and if the
person does not withdraw, the chair may authorize a constable or other officer to remove the
person from the meeting.

Within 2 weeks of qualification for office, all persans serving on a public body shall certify, on

a form prescribed by the attorney general, the receipt of a copy of the open meeting law,
regulations promulgated pursuant to section 25 and a copy of the educational materials
prepared by the attorney general explaining the open meeting law and its application
pursuant to section 19. Unless otherwise directed or approved by the attorney general, the
appointing authority, city or town clerk or the executive director or ather appropriate
administrator of a state or regional body, or their designees, shall obtain such certification
from each person upon entering service and shall retain it subject to the applicable records
retention schedule where the body maintains its official records. The certification shall be
evidence that the member of a public body has read and understands the requirements of the

28| Pagq



open meeting Jaw and the consequences of violating it.

Section 21. Executive Sessions

(a) A public body may meetin executive session only for the following purposes:

1.

To discuss the reputation, character, physical condition or mental health, rather than
professional competence, of an individual, or to discuss the discipline or dismissal of,
or complaints or charges brought against, a public officer, employee, staff member or
individual. The individual to be discussed in such executive session shall be notified in
writing by the public body at least 48 hours prior to the proposed executive session;
provided, however, that notification may be waived upon written agreement of the
parties. A public body shall hold an open session if the individual involved reguests that
the session be open. If an executive session is held, such individual shall have the
following rights:

i.  tobe present at such executive session during deliberations which involve that

individual;

iil.  tohave counsel or a representative of his own choosing present and attending
for the purpose of advising the individual and not for the purpose of active
participation in the executive session;

ii. tospeakon his own behalf;and

iv.  tocause anindependent record to be created of said executive session by
audio-recording or transcription, at the individual’s expense.

The rights of an individual set forth in this paragraph are in addition to the rights
that he may have from any other source, including, but not limited to, rights under any
laws or collective bargaining agreements and the exercise or non-exercise of the
individual rights under this section shall not be canstrued as a waiver of any rights of
the individual.

To conduct strategy sessions in preparation for negotiations with nonunion

personnel or to conduct collective bargaining sessions or contract negotiations

with nonunion personnel;

To discuss strategy with respect ta collective bargaining or litigation if an open meeting
may have a detrimental effect on the bargaining or litigating position of the public
body and the chair so declares;

To discuss the deployment of security personnel or devices, or strategies with respect
thereto;

To investigate charges of criminal misconduct or to consider the filing of criminal
complaints;

To consider the purchase, exchange, lease or value of real property if the chair
declares that an open meeting may have a detrimental effect on the negotiating
position of the public body;

To comply with, or act under the authority of, any general or special law or federal
grant-in-aid requirements;

29|Page



8. To consider or interview applicants for employment or appointment by a preliminary
screening committee if the chair declares that an open meeting will have a detrimental
effect in abtaining qualified applicants; provided, however, that this clause shall not
apply to any meeting, including meetings of a preliminary screening committee, to
consider and interview applicants who have passed a prior preliminary screening;

9, To meet or confer with a mediator, as defined in section 23C of chapter 233, with
respect to any litigation or decision on any public business within its jurisdiction
involving another party, group or entity, provided that:

i any decision to participate in mediation shall be made in an open session and
the parties, issues involved and purpose of the mediation shall be disclosed;
and

ii.  no action shall be taken by any public body with respect to those issues which
are the subject of the mediation without deliberation and approval for such
action at an open session; or

10. To discuss trade secrets or confidential, competitively-sensitive or other proprietary
information provided in the course of activities conducted by a governmental body as
an energy supplier under a license granted by the department of public utilities
pursuant to section 1F of chapter 164, in the course of activities conducted as a
municipal aggregator under section 134 of said chapter 164 or in the course of
activities conducted by a cooperative consisting of governmental entities organized
pursuant to section 136 of said chapter 164, when such governmenta! body, municipal
aggregator or cooperative determines that such disclosure will adversely affect its
ability to conduct business in relation to other entities making, selling or distributing
electric power and energy.

(b) A public body may meet in closed session for 1 or more of the purposes enumerated
in subsection (a) provided that:

1. the body has first convened in an open session pursuant to section 21;

2. amajority of members of the body have voted to go into executive session and the
vote of each member is recorded by roll call and entered into the minutes;

3. before the executive session, the chair shall state the purpose for the executive session,
stating all subjects that may be revealed without compromising the purpose for which
the executive session was called;

4. the chair shall publicly annocunce whether the open session will reconvene at the
conclusion of the executive session; and

5. accurate records of the executive session shall be maintained pursuant to section 23.

Section 22. Mceting Minutes; Records
{a} A public body shall create and maintain accurate minutes of all meetings, including
executive sessions, setting farth the date, time and place, the members present or absent,
a summary of the discussions on each subject, a list of documents and other exhibits used at
the meeting, the decisions made and the actions taken at each meeting, including the

30 | Page



(b)

(c)

{d)

—

(e

(f)

(e}

record of all votes.

No vote taken at an open session shall be by secret ballot. Any vote taken at an executive
session shall be recorded by roll call and entered into the minutes,

Minutes of all open sessions shall be created and approved in a timely manner. The minutes of
an open session, if they exist and whether approved or in draft form, shall be made available
upon request by any person within 10 days.

Documents and other exhibits, such as photographs, recordings or maps, used by the body at
an open or executive session shall, along with the minutes, be part of the official record of the
session.

The minutes of any open session, the notes, recordings or other materials used in the
preparation of such minutes and all documents and exhibits used at the session, shall be
public records in their entirety and not exempt from disclosure pursuant to any of the
exemptions under clause Twenty-sixth of section 7 of chapter 4. Notwithstanding this
paragraph, the following materials shall be exempt from disclosure to the public as personnel
information: (1) materials used in a performance evaluation of an individual bearing on his
professional competence, provided they were not created by the members of the body for
the purposes of the evaluation; and (2) materials used in deliberations about employment or
appointment of individuals, including applications and supporting materials; provided,
however, that any resume submitted by an applicant shall not be exempt.

The minutes of any executive session, the notes, recordings or other materials used in the
preparation of such minutes and all documents and exhibits used at the session, may be
withheld from disclosure to the public in their entirety under subclause {a) of clause Twenty-
sixth of section 7 of chapter 4, as long as publication may defeat the lawful purposes of the
executive session, but no longer; provided, however, that the executive session was held in
compliance with section 21. _

When the purpose for which a valid executive session was held has been served, the
minutes, preparatory materials and documeants and exhibits of the session shall be disclosed
unless the attorney- client privilege or 1 or more of the exemptions under said clause Twenty-
sixth of said section 7 of said chapter 4 apply to withhold these records, or any portion thereof,
from disclosure.

For purposes of this subsection, if an executive session is held pursuant to clause (2) or (3)
of subsections (a) of section 21, then the minutes, preparatory materials and documents and
exhibits used at the session may be withheld from disclosure to the public in their entirety,
unless and until such time as a litigating, negotiating or bargaining position is no longer
jeopardized by such disclosure, at which time they shall be disclosed unless the attorney-client
privilege or 1 or more of the exemptions under said clause Twenty-sixth of said section 7 of
said chapter 4 apply to withhold these records, or any portion thereof, from disclosure.

(1) The public body, or its chair or designee, shall, at reasonable intervals, review the minutes
of executive sessions to determine if the provisions of this subsection warrant continued non-
disclosure. Such determination shall be announced at the body’s next meeting and such
announcement shall be included in the minutes of that meeting.

31 I P i B e



2. Upon request by any person to inspect or copy the minutes of an executive session or any
portion thereof, the body shall respond to the request within 10 days following receipt and
shall release any such minutes not covered by an exemption under subsection (f);
provided, however, that if the body has not performed a review pursuant to paragraph (1},
the public body shall perform the review and release the non-exempt minutes, or any
portion thereof, not later than the body’s next meeting or 30 days, whichever first occurs,
A public body shall not assess a fee for the time spent in its review.

Section 23. Enforcement of Open Meeting Law; Complaints; Hearings; Civil Actions

(a)

Subject to appropriation, the attorney general shall interpret and enforce the open meeting law.

{b) Atleast 30 days prior to the filing of 2 complaint with the attorney general, the complainant

(c)

(d)

shall file a written complaint with the public body, setting forth the circumstances which
constitute the alleged violation and giving the body an opportunity to remedy the alleged
violation; provided, however, that such complaint shall be filed within 30 days of the date of
the alleged viglation. The public body shall, within 14 business days of receipt of a complaint,
send a copy of the complaint to the attorney general and notify the attorney general of any
remedial action taken. Any remedial action taken by the public body in response to a
complaint under this subsection shall not be admissible as evidence against the public body
that a violation occurred in any later administrative or judicial proceeding relating to such
alleged viclation. The attorney general may authorize an extension of time to the public body
for the purpose of taking remedial action upon the written request of the public body and a
showing of good cause-to grant theextension.
Upon the receipt of a complaint by any person, the attorney general shall determine, ina
timely manner, whether there has been a vielation of the open meeting law. The attorney
general may, and before imposing any civil penalty on a public body shall, ho!d a hearing on
any such complaint. Following a determination that a violation has occurred, the attorney
general shall determine whether the pubilic body, 1 or more of the members, or both, are
responsible and whether the violation was intentional or unintentional. Upon the finding of a
violation, the attorney general may issue an order to:

1. compelimmediate and future compliance with the open meeting law;

2. compel attendance at a training session authorized by the attorney general;

3. nullify in whole or in part any action taken at the meeting;

4, impose a civil penalty upon the public body of not more than $1,000 for each

intentional violation;

S. reinstate an employee without loss of compensation, seniority, tenure or other benefits;

6. compel that minutes, records or other materials be made public; or

7. prescribe other appropriateaction.
A public body or any member of a body aggrieved by any order issued pursuant to this section
may, notwithstanding any general or special law to the contrary, obtain judicial review of the
order only through an action in superior court seeking relief in the nature of certiorari;
provided, however, that notwithstanding section 4 of chapter 249, any such action shall be

32jFage



commenced in superior court within 21 days of receipt of the arder. Any order issued under
this section shall be stayed pending judicial review; provided, however, that if the order
nuilifies an action of the public body, the body shall not implement such action pending
judicial review.

{e} If any public body or member thereof shall fail to comply with the requirements set forth in any
order issued by the attorney general, or shall fail to pay any civil penalty imposed within 21
days of the date of issuance of such order or within 30 days following the decision of the
superior court if judicial review of such order has been timely sought, the attorney general may
file an action to compel compliance, Such action shall be filed in Suffolk superior court with
respect to state public bodies and, with respect to all other public bodies, in the superior court
in any county in which the public body acts or meets. If such body or member has not timely
sought judicial review of the order, such order shall not be open to review in an action to
compel compliance,

{f) Asan alternative to the procedure in subsection (b), the attorney general or 3 or more
registered voters may initiate a civil action to enforce the open meeting law.

Any action under this subsection shall be filed in Suffolk superior court with respect to
state public bodies and, with respect to all other public bodies, in the superior court in any
county in which the public body acts or meets.

In any action filed pursuant to this subsection, in addition to all other remedies
available to the superiar court, in law or in equity, the court shall have all of the remedies set
forth in subsection (c).

In any action filed under this subsection, the order of notice on the complaint shall be
returnable not later than 10 days after the filing and the complaint shall be heard and
determined on the return day or on such day as the court shall fix, having regard to the
speediest possible determination of the cause consistent with the rights of the parties;
provided, however, that orders may be issued at any time on or after the filing of the complaint
without notice when such order is necessary to fulfill the purposes of the open meeting law. In
the hearing of any action under this subsection, the burden shall be on the respondent to show
by a preponderance of the evidence that the action complained of in such complaint was in
accordance with and authorized by the open meeting law; provided, however, that no civil
penalty may be imposed on an individual absent proof that the action complained of violated
the open meeting law.

(g} It shall be a defense to the imposition of a penalty that the public body, after full
disclosure, acted in good faith compliance with the advice of the public body’s legal
counsel.

{h) Payment of civil penalties under this section paid to or received by the attorney general shall
be paid into the general fund of the commonwealth.

Section 24. Investigation by Attorney General of Vielations of Open Meeting Law
{a) Whenever the attorney general has reasonable cause to believe that a person, including any

33|Page



(b)

(c)

(d)

(e}

public body and any other state, regional, county, municipal or other governmental official or
entity, has violated the open meeting law, the attorney general may conduct an investigation
to ascertain whether in fact such person has violated the open meeting law. Upon notification
of an investigation, any persaon, public body or any other state, regional, county, municipal or
other governmental official or entity who is the subject of an investigation, shall make all
information necessary to conduct such investigation available to the attorney general. In the
event that the person, public body or any other state, regional, county, municipal or other
governmental official or entity being investigated does not voluntarily provide relevant
information to the attorney general within 30 days of receiving notice of the investigation, the
attorney general may: {1) take testimony under oath concerning such alleged violation of the
open meeting law; (2) examine or cause to be examined any documentary material of
whatever nature relevant to such alleged violation of the apen meeting law; and {3) require
attendance during such examination of documentary material of any person having knowledge
of the documentary material and take testimony under oath or acknowledgment in respect of
any such documentary material. Such testimony and examination shall take place in the county
where such person resides or has a place of business or, if the parties consent or such person is
a nonresident or has no place of business within the commonwealth, in Suffolkcounty.

Notice of the time, place and cause of such taking of testimony, examination or attendance
shall be given by the attorney general at least 10 days prior to the date of such taking of
testimony or examination,

Service of any such notice may be made by: (1) delivering a duly-executed copy to the person
to be served or to a partner or to any officer or agent authorized by appointment or by law to
receive service of process on behalf of such person; (2) delivering a duly-executed copy to the
principal place of business in the commonwealth of the person to be served; or {3} mailing by
registered or certified mail a duly-executed copy addressed to the person to be served at the
principal place of business in the commonweaith or, if said person has no place of business in
the commonwealth, to his principal office or place of business.

Each such notice shall: {1) state the time and place for the taking of testimony or the
examination and the name and address of each person to be examined, if known and, if the
name is not known, a general description sufficient to identify him or the particular class or
group to which he belongs; (2) state the statute and section thereof, the alleged violation of
which is under investigation and the general subject matter of the investigation; (3) describe
the class or classes of documentary material to be produced thereunder with reasonable
specificity, so as fairly to indicate the material demanded; {4) prescribe a return date within
which the documentary material is to be produced; and (5) identify the members of the
attorney general’s staff to whom such documentary material is to be made available for
inspection and copying.

No such notice shall contain any requirement which would be unreasonable or improper if
contained in a subpoena duces tecum issued by a court of the commonwealth or require the
disclosure of any documentary material which would be privileged, or which for any other
reason would not be required by a subpoena duces tecum issued by a court of the

34 I Page



commonwealth.

(f} Any documentary material or other information produced by any person pursuant to this
section shall not, unless otherwise ordered by a court of the commonwealth for good cause
shown, be disclosed to any person other than the authorized agent or representative of the
attorney general, unless with the consent of the person producing the same; provided,
however, that such material or information may be disclosed by the atterney general in court
pleadings or other papers filed in court.

(8) Atany time prior to the date specified in the notice, or within 21 days after the notice has
been served, whichever period is shorter, the court may, upon motion for good cause shown,
extend such reporting date or modify or set aside such demand or grant a protective order in
accordance with the standards set forth in Rule 26(c) of the Massachusetts Rules of Civil
Procedure. The motion may be filed in the superior court of the county in which the person
served resides or has his usual place of business or in Suffolk county. This section shall not be
applicable to any criminal proceeding nor shall information obtained under the authority of
this section be admissible in evidence in any criminal prosecution for substantially identical
transactions.

Section 25. Regulations; Letter Rulings; Advisory Opinions
(a) The attorney general shall have the authority to promulgate rules and regulations to carry out
enforcement of the open meeting law.
(b} The attorney general shall have the authority to interpret the open meeting law and to issue
written fetter rulings or advisory opinions according to rules established under this section.

35|Page



940 CMR 29.00: Open Meeting Law Regulations

The official regulations are published in the Massachusetts Register. For more information, contact the
Secretary of the Commonwealth's State Publications and Regulations Division,

Section

29.01: Purpose, 5cope and Other General Provisions
29.02: Definitions

29.03: Notice Posting Requirements
29.04: Certification

29.05: Complaints

29.06: Investigation

29.07: Resolution

29.08: Advisory Opinions

29.09: Other Enforcement Actions
29.10: Remaote Participation

29.11: Meeting Minutes

29.01: Purpose, Scope and Other General Provisions

(1) Purpose. The purpose of 940 CMR 29.00 is to interpret, enforce and effectuate the purposes of the
Open Meeting Law, M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25.

{2) Severability. If any provision of 940 CMR 29.00 or the application of such provision to any person,
public body, or circumstances shall be held invalid, the validity of the remainder of 940 CMR 29.00 and
the applicability of such provision to other persons, public bodies, or circumstances shall not be affected
thereby.

(3) Mailing. All complaints, notices {except meeting notices) and other materials that must be sent to
another party shall be sent by one of the following means: first class mail, email, hand delivery, or by any
other means at least as expeditious as first class mail.

29.02: Definitions

As used in 940 CMR 29.00, the following terms shall, uniess the context clearly requires otherwise, have
the following meanings:

County Public Body. A public body created by county government with jurisdiction that comprises a single
county.

District Public Body. A public body with jurisdiction that extends to two or more municipalities.

Emergency. A sudden, generally unexpected occurrence or set of circumstances demanding immediate
action.

36||" agmo



Intentional Violation. An act or omission by a public body or a member thereof, in knowing violation of
M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25. Evidence of an intentional violation of M.G.L. c. 304, §§ 18 through 25
shall include, but not be limited to, the public body or public body member that:

{a) acted with specific intent to violate the law:

(b} acted with deliberate ignorance of the law’s requirements; or

{c) was previously informed by receipt of a decision from a court of competent jurisdiction or advised
by the Attorney General, pursuant to 940 CMR 29.07 or 940 CMR 29.08, that the conduct violates M.G.L.
c. 30A, §5 18 through 25. Where a public body or public body member has made a good faith attempt at
compliance with the law, but was reasonably mistaken about its requirements, such conduct will not be
considered an intentional violation of M.G.L. ¢. 304, 88§ 18 through 25.

Person. All individuals and entities, including governmental officials and employees. Person does not
include public bodies.

Post Natice. To place a written announcement of a meeting on a bulletin board, electronic display,
website, or in a loose-leaf binder in a manner conspicuously visible to the public, including persons with
disabilities, at all hours, in accordance with 940 CMR 29.03.

Public Body. Has the identical meaning as set forth in M.G.L. c. 30A, § 18, that is, a multiple-member
board, commission, committee or subcommittee within the executive or legislative branch or within any
county, district, city, region or town, however created, elected, appointed or otherwise constituted,
established to serve a public purpose; provided, however, that the governing board of a local housing,
redevelopment or other similar authority shall be deemed a local public body; provided, further, that the
governing board or body of any other authority established by the general court to serve a public purpose
in the commonwealth or any part thereof shall be deemed a state public body; provided, further, that
Public Body shall not include the general court or the committees or recess commissions thereof, bodies
of the judicial branch or bodies appointed by a constitutional officer solely for the purpose of advising a
constitutional officer and shall not include the board of bank incorporation or the policyholders protective
board; and provided further, that a subcommittee shall include any multiple-member body created to
advise or make recommendations to a public body.

Qualification for Office. The election or appointment of a person to a public body and the taking of the
oath of office, where required, and shall include qualification for a second or any subsequent term of
office. Where no term of office for a member of a public body is specified, the member shall be deemed
to be qualified for office on a biennial basis following appointment or election to office.

Regional Public Body. A public body with jurisdiction that extends to two or more municipalities.

Remote Participation. Participation by a member of a public body during a meeting of that public body
where the member is not physically present at the meeting location.

29.03: Notice Posting Requirements

{1) Reguirements Applicable to All Public Bodies.

(a) Except in an emergency, public bodies shall file meeting notices sufficiently in advance of a
public meeting to permit posting of the notice at least 48 hours in advance of the public

37|Page



{b)

(d)

meeting, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays, in accordance with M.G.L. c. 30A,
§ 20. In an emergency, the notice shall be posted as soon as reasonably possible prior to such
meeting.

Meeting notices shall be printed or displayed in a legible, easily understandable format and
shall contain the date, time and place of such meeting, and a listing of topics that the chair
reasonably anticipates will be discussed at the meeting. The list of topics shall have sufficient
specificity to reasonably advise the public of the issues to be discussed at the meeting.
Notices posted under an alternative posting method authorized by 940 CMR 29.03(2) through
{5) shall include the same content as required by 940 CMR 29.03(1)(b). If such an alternative
posting method is adopted, the municipal clerk, in the case of a municipality, or the body, in
all other cases, shall file with the Attorney General written notice of adoption of the
alternative method, including the website address where applicable, and any change thereto,
and the most current notice posting method on file with the Attorney General shall be
consistently used.

The date and time that a meeting notice is posted shall be conspicuously recarded thereon or
therewith. If an amendment occurs within 48 hours of a meeting, not including Saturdays,
Sundays, and legal holidays, then the date and time that the meeting notice is amended shall
also be conspicuously recorded thereon ar therewith.

(2) Requirements Specific to Local Public Bodies.

(a)

(b}

(c)

The official method of posting notice shall be by filing with the municipal clerk, or other person
designated by agreement with the municipal clerk, who shall post notice of the meeting in a
manner conspicuously visible to the public at all hours in, on, or near the municipal building
in which the clerk’s office is located.

Alternatively, the municipality may adopt the municipal website as the official method of
notice posting.

1. The Chief Executive Officer of the municipality, as defined in M.G.L. c. 4, § 7, must
authorize or, by a simple majority, vote to adopt the municipal website as the official
method of posting notice. Any municipality that has adopted its website as the official
method of posting notice by another method as of October 6, 2017 will have satisfied
the adoption requirement.

2. If adopted, a description of the website as the notice posting method, including
directions on how to locate notices on the website, shall be posted in 2 manner
conspicuously visible to the public at all hours on or adjacent to the main and
handicapped accessible entrances to the municipal building in which the clerk’s office
is located.

3. Once adopted as the official method of notice posting, the website shall host the
official legal notice for meetings of all public bodies within the municipality.

4. Notices must continue to be filed with the municipal clerk, or any other person
designated by agreement with the municipal clerk.

A municipality may have only one official notice posting method for the purpose of M.G.L. c.
304, §§ 18 through 25, either 940 CMR 29.03(2)(a) or (b). However, nothing precludes a
municipality from choosing to post additional notices vig other methods, including a
newspaper. Such additional notice will not be the official notice for the purposes of M.G.L. c.
30A, §5 18 through 25.

3g|Page



(d)

Copies of natices shall also be accessible to the public in the municipal clerk’s office during
the clerk’s business hours.

(3) Requirements Specific to Regional or District Public Bodies.

(a)
(b)

Notice shall be filed and posted in each city and town within the region or district in the
manner prescribed for local public bodies in that city or town.

As an alternative method of notice, a regional or district public body may, by majority vote,
adopt the regional or district public body’s website as its official notice posting methad. A
copy of each meeting notice shall be kept by the chair of the public body or the chair's
designee in accordance with the applicable records retention schedules. The public body shall
file and post notice of the website address, as well as directions on how to locate notices on
the website, in each city and town within the region or district in the manner prescribed for
local public bodies in that city or town,

{4) Reguirements Specific to Regional School Districts.

(a)

(b)

The secretary of the regional school district committee shall be considered to be its clerk. The
clerk of the regional school district committee shall file notice with the municipal clerk of each
city and town within such district and each such municipat clerk shall post the notice in the
manner prescribed for local public bodies in that city or town.

As an alternative method of notice, a regional school district committee may, by majority
vote, adopt the regional school district’s website as its official notice posting method. A copy
of each meeting notice shall be kept by the secretary of the regional school district committee
or the secretary’s designee in accordance with the applicable records retention schedules.
The regional school district committee shall file and post notice of the website address, as
well as directions on how to locate notices on the website, in each city and town within the
region or district in the manner prescribed for local public bodies in that city or town.

(5) Reauirements Specific to County Public Bodies.

(a)

(b)

Notice shall be filed and posted in the office of the county commissioners and a copy of the
notice shall be publicly posted in a manner conspicuously visible to the public at all hours in
such place or places as the county commissioners shall designate for this purpose.

As an alternative method of notice, a county public body may, by majority vote, adopt the
county public body’s website as its official notice posting method. A copy of the notice shall
be kept by the chair of the county public body or the chair's designee in accordance with the
applicable records retention schedules. The county public body shall file and post notice of
the website address, as well as directions on how to locate notices on the website, in the
office of the county commissioners and a copy of the notice shall be publicly posted in a
manner conspicuously visible to the public at all hours in such place or places as the county
commissioners shall designate for this purpose.

{6) Requirements Specific to State Public Bodies. Notice shall be posted on a website. A copy of each

notice shall also be sent by first class or electronic mail to the Secretary of the Commonwealth’s
Regulations Division. The chair of each state public body shall notify the Attorney General in writing of its
webpage for listing meeting notices and any change to the webpage location. The public body shall
consistently use the most current website location on file with the Attorney General. A copy of the notice

39 |Fage



shall be kept by the chair of the state public body or the chair's designee in accordance with the applicable
records retention schedules.

{7) Websites. Where a public body adopts a website as its method of noticing meetings, it must make
every effort to ensure that the website is accessible to the public at all hours. If a website hecomes
inaccessible to members of the public within 48 hours of a meeting, not including Saturdays, Sundays, and
legal holidays, the municipal clerk or other individual respensible for posting notice to the website must
restore the website to accessibility within six hours of the time, during regular business hours, when such
individual discovers that the website has become inaccessible. In the event that the website is not
restored to accessibility within six business hours of the website’s deficiency being discovered, the public
body must re-post notice of its meeting for another date and time in accordance with M.G.L. ¢. 30A, §
20(b).

25.04: Certification

{1) For local public bodies, the municipal clerk, and for all other public bodies, the appointing authority,
executive director, or other appropriate administrator or their designees, shall, upon a public body
member’s qualification for office, either deliver to the public body member, or require the public body
member to obtain from the Attorney General’s website, the following educational materials:

{a) The Attorney General’'s Open Meeting Law Guide, which will include an explanation of the
requirements of the Open Meeting Law; the Open Meeting Law, M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through
25; and 940 CMR 29.00.

(b) A copy of each Open Meeting Law determination issued to that public bady by the Attorney
General within the last five years in which the Attorney General found a violation of M.G.L. c.
30A, §5 18 through 25. Open Meeting Law determinations are available at the Attorney
General's website.

(2) Educational materials may be delivered to public body rmembers by paper copy orin digital form.

(3} withintwo weeks after receipt of the educational materials, the public body member shall certify, on
the form prescribed by the Attorney General, receipt of the educational materials. The municipal clerk,
appointing authority, executive director or other appropriate administratar, or their designees, shall
maintain the signed certification for each such person, indicating the date the person received the
materials.

{4) Anindividual serving on multiple public bodies must sign a certification for each public body on which
he or she serves. A public body member does not need to sign a separate certification when joining a

subcommittee of the public body.

(5) A public body member must sign a new certification upon reelection or reappointment to the public
body.

29.05: Complaints

(1) Al complaints shall be in writing, using the form approved by the Attorney General and available on
the Attorney General’s website. A public body need not, and the Attorney General will not, investigate or
address anonymous complaints, A public body need not address a complaint that is not signed by the

40 I |.' d R



complainant. A public body need not address a complaint that is not filed using the Attorney General’s
complaint form.

{2} Public bodies, or the municipal clerk in the case of a local public body, should provide any person, on
request, with an Open Meeting Law Complaint Form. if a paper copy is unavailable, then the public body
should direct the requesting party to the Attorney General’s website, where an electronic copy of the
form will be available for downloading and printing.

(3) Forlocal public bodies, the complainant shall file the complaint with the chair of the public body, who
shall disseminate copies of the complaint to the members of the public body. The complainant shali also
file a copy of the complaint with the municipal clerk, who shall keep such filings in an orderly fashion for
public review on request during regular business hours. For all other public bodies, the complainant shall
file the complaint with the chair of the relevant public body, or if there is no chair, then with the public
body.

(4) The complaint shall be filed within 30 days of the alleged violation of M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25
or, if the alleged violation of M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25 could not reasonably have been known at
the time it occurred, then within 30 days of the date it should reasonably have been discovered.

(5) Within 14 business days after receiving the complaint, unless an extension has been granted by the
Attorney General as provided in 940 CMR 29.05(5)(b}, the public body shall meet to review the complaint’s
allegations; take remedial action, if appropriate; and send to the complainant a response and a description
of any remedial action taken. The public body shall simultaneously notify the Attorney General that it has
sent such materials to the complainant and shall provide the Attorney General with a copy of the
complaint, the response, and & description of any remedial action taken.

{a) Any remedial action taken by the public body in response to a complaint under 940 CMR
29.05(5) shall not be admissible as evidence that a violation occurred in any later
administrative or judicial proceeding against the public body relating to the alleged violation.

(b) Ifthe public body requires additional time to resolve the complaint, it may obtain an extension
from the Attorney General by submitting a written request within 14 business days after
receiving the complaint. Arequest may be submitted by the chair, the public body’s attorney,
or any person designated by the public body or the chair. The Attorney General will grant an
extension if the request demonstrates good cause. Good cause will generaliy be found if, for
example, the public body cannot meet within the 14 business day period to consider proposed
remedial action. The Attorney General shall notify the complainant of any extension and the
reason for it.

(6) If the public body needs additional information to resolve the complaint, then the chair may request
it from the complainant within seven business days of receiving the complaint. The complainant shall
respond within ten business days after receiving the request. The public body will then have an additional
ten business days after receiving the complainant’s response to review the complaint and take any
remedial action pursuant to 940 CMR 29.05(5).

(7) IF at least 30 days have passed after the complaint was filed with the public body, and if the
complainant is unsatisfied with the public body's resolution of the complaint, the complainant may file a
complaint with the Attorney General. When filing a complaint with the Attorney General, the complainant
shall include a copy of the original complaint along with any other materials the complainant believes are

Ji|Pape



relevant. The Attorney General shall decline to investigate complaints filed with the Attorney General
more than 90 days after the alleged violation of M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25, or if the alleged violation
of M.G.L. c. 304, §§ 18 through 25, could not reasonably have been known at the time it occurred, then
within 90 days of the date it should reasonably have been discovered. However, this time may be
extended if the Attorney General grants an extension to the public body to respond to a complaint or if
the complainant demonstrates good cause for the delay in filing with the Attorney General.

(8} The Attorney General shall acknowledge receipt of all complaints and will resolve them within a
reasonable period of time, generally 90 days.

{9) Mediation to Resolve a Complaint.
{a) If a complainant files five complaints alleging violations of M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25,

with the same public body or within the same municipality within 12 months, upan the fifth
or subsequent complaint to that public body or a public body within that municipality within
the 12-month period, the public body may request mediation with the complainant, at the
public body's expense, to resolve the complaint. A mediator is defined by M.G.L. c. 233, §
23C, and will be selected by the Attorney General.

(b) A public body must request mediation prior to, or with, its response to the complaint. If the
mediation does not produce an agreement, the public body will have ten business days from
the last joint meeting with the mediator to respond to the complaint.

{c) A public body may participate in mediation in open session, in executive session through
M.G.L. c. 30A, § 21{a}{9), or by designating a representative to participate an behalf of the
public bady,

{d] If the complainant declines to participate in mediation after a public body’s request in
accordance with 940 CMR 29.05(8)(a), the Attorney General may decline to review the
complaint if it is thereafter filed with the Attorney General.

{e) If the mediation does not resolve the complaint to the satisfaction of both parties, then the
complainant may file a copy of his or her complaint with the Attorney General and request
the Attorney General’s review. The complaint must be filed with the Attorney General within
30 days of the last joint meeting with the mediator.

{f) Any written agreement reached in mediation shall become a public record in its entirety and
must be publicly disclosed at the next meeting of the public body following execution of the
agreement.

(g) Nothing in 940 CMR 29.05(9) shall prevent a complainant from filing subsequent complaints,
however public bodies may continue to request mediation in an effort to resclve complaints
in accordance with 940 CMR 29.05(9){a).

(h) Nothing in 940 CMR 29,05(9) shall prevent a public body or complainant from seeking
mediation to resolve any complaint. However, only mediation requests that follow the
requirements of 940 CMR 29.05(9)}{a) will trigger the application of 940 CMR 29.05(9)(d).

29.06: Investigation
Following a timely complaint filed pursuant to 940 CMR 29.05, where the Attorney General has reasonable

cause to believe that a violation of M.G.L, c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25 has occurred, then the Attorney
General may conduct an investigation.

42 |Pag



(1) The Attorney General shall notify the public body or person that is the subject of a complaint of the
existence of the investigation within a reasonable period of time. The Attorney General shall also notify
the public body or person of the nature of the alleged violation.

{2) Upon notice of the investigation, the subject of the investigation shall provide the Attorney General
with all informatian relevant to the investigation. The subject may also submit 2 memorandur or other
writing to the Attorney General addressing the allegations being investigated.

If the subject of the investigation fails to voluntarily provide the necessary or relevant information
within 30 days of receiving notice of the investigation, the Attorney General may issue one ar more civil
investigative demands to obtain the information in accordance with M.G.L. c. 30A, § 24(a), to:

{a) Take testimony under oath;

(b} Examine or cause to be examined any docurmentary material; or

(¢) Require attendance during such examination of documentary material by any person having
knowledge of the documentary material and take testimony under oath or acknowledgment
in respect of any such documentary material.

Any documentary material or other information produced by any person pursuant to 940 CMR 29.06
shall not, unless otherwise ordered by a court of the Commonwealth for good cause shown, be disclosed
without that person’s consent by the Attorney General to any person other than the Attorney General’s
authorized agent or representative. However, the Attorney General may disclose the material in court
pleadings or other papers filed in court; or, to the extent necessary, in an administrative hearing or in a
written determination to resolve the investigation pursuant to 940 CMR 29.07.

29.07: Resolution

(1) No Violation. If the Attorney General determines after investigation that M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through
25 has not been violated, the Attorney General shall issue a written determination to the subject of the
complaint and copy any complainant.

(2) Violation Resolved Without Hearing. If the Attorney General determines after investigation that
M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25 has been violated, the Attorney General may resolve the investigation
without a hearing. The Attorney General shall determine whether the relevant public body, one or more
of its members, or both, were responsible. The Attorney General will notify in writing any complainant of
the investigation’s resolution. Upon finding a violation of M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25, the Attorney
General may take one of the following actions:
{a) Informal Action. The Attorney General may resolve the investigation with a letter or other
appropriate form of written communication that explains the violation and clarifies the
subject’s obligations under M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25, providing the subject with a
reasonable period of time to comgply with any outstanding obligations.
(b) Formal Order. The Attorney General may resolve the investigation with a formal order. The
order may reguire:
1. immediate and future compliance with M.G.L. c. 304, §§ 18 through 25;
attendance at a training session authorized by the Attorney General;
nullification of any action taken at the relevant meeting, in whole or in part;
that minutes, records or other materials be made public;
that an employee be reinstated without loss of compensation, seniority, tenure or
other benefits; or
6. other appropriate action.

EREE S

43 I Pape



{c) Orders shall be available on the Attorney General’s website.

(3) Violation Resolved After Hearing. The Attorney General may conduct a hearing where the Attorney
General deems appropriate. The hearing shall be conducted pursuant to 801 CMR 1.00: Formal Rules, as
modified by any regulations issued by the Attorney General. At the conclusicn of the hearing, the Attorney
General shall determine whether a violation of M.G.L. c. 304, §% 1B through 25 occurred, and whether
the public body, one or more of its members, or both, were responsible. The Attorney General will notify
in writing any complainant of the investigation’s resolution. Upon a finding that a viclation occurred, the
Attorney General may order:

{a) immediate and future compliance with M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25;

{b) attendance at a training session authorized by the Attorney General;

{c) nullification of any action taken at the relevant meeting, in whole or in part;

(d) imposition of a fine upon the public body of not more than $1,000 for each intentional
violation; however, a fine will not be imposed where a public body or public body member
acted in good faith compliance with the advice of the public body's legal counsel, in
accordance with M.G.L. 304, § 23(g);

{e) that an employee be reinstated without loss of compensation, seniority, tenure or other
benefits;

{f) that minutes, records or other materials be made public; or

{g) other appropriate action.

Orders issued following a hearing shall be available on the Attorney General's website.

(4} A public body, subject to an order of the Attorney General following a written determination issued
pursuant to 940 CMR 29.07, shall notify the Attorney General in writing of its compliance with the order
within 30 days of receipt of the order, unless otherwise indicated by the arder itself. A public body need
nat notify the Attorney General of its compliance with an order requiring immediate and future
compliance pursuant to 940 CMR 29.07{2)(b)1. or 940 CMR 29.07(3)(a).

{5} A public body or any member of a body aggrieved by any order issued by the Attorney General under
940 CMR 29.07 may obtain judicial review of the order through an action in Superior Court seeking relief
in the nature of certiorari. Any such action must be commenced in Superior Court within 21 days of receipt
of the order.

29.08: Advisory Opinions

The Attorney General will generally not issue advisory opinions. However, the Attorney General may issue
written guidance to address common requests for interpretation. Such written guidance will appear on
the Attorney General's website.

29.09: Other Enforcement Actions
Nothing in 940 CMR 29.06 or 29.07 shall limit the Attorney General’s authaority to file a civil action to
enforce M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25 pursuant to M.G.L. c. 30A, § 23(f}.

29.10: Remote Participation

44 |Page



(1) Preamble. Remote participation may be permitted subject to the following procedures and
restrictions. However, the Attorney General strongly encourages members of public bodies to physically
attend meetings whenever possible. By promulgating 940 CMR 29.10, the Attorney General hopes to
promote greater participation in government. Members of public bodies have a responsibility to ensure
that remote participation in meetings is not used in a way that would defeat the purposes of M.G.L. c.
30A, §8§ 18 through 25, namely promoting transparency with regard to deliberations and decisions on
which public policy is based.

{2) Adoption of Remote Participation. Remote participation in meetings of public bodies is not permitted

unless the practice has been adopted as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e}

(f}

(e}

Local Public Bodies. The Chief Executive Officer, as defined in M.G.L. c. 4, § 7, must authorize

or, by a simple majority, vote to allow remote participation in accordance with the
requirements of 940 CMR 29.10, with that authorization or vote applying to all subsequent
meetings of all local public bodies in that municipality.

Regional or District Public Bodies. The regional or district public body must, by a simple
majority, vote to allow remote participation in accordance with the requirements of 940 CMR
29.10, with that vote applying to all subsequent meetings of that public body and its
committees,

Regional School Districts. The regional school district committee must, by a simple majority,

vote to allow remote participation in accordance with the requirements of 940 CMR 29.10,
with that vote applying to all subsequent meetings of that public body and its committees.
County Public Bodies. The county commissioners must, by a simple majority, vote to allow

remote participation in accardance with the requirements of 940 CMR 29.10, with that vote
applying to afl subsequent meetings of all county public bodies in that county.

State Public Bodies. The state public body must, by a simple majority, vote to allow remote
participation in accordance with the reguirements of 940 CMR 29.10, with that vote applying
to all subsequent meetings of that public body and its committees.

Retirement Boards. A retirement board created pursuant to M.G.L. c. 32, § 20 or M.G.L. c.

34B, § 19 must, by a simple majority, vote to allow remaote participation in accordance with
the requirements of 940 CMR 29.10, with that vote applying to all subsequent meetings of
that public body and its committees.

Local Commissions on Disability. In accordance with M.G.L. c. 30A, § 20{e), a local commission
on disability may, by majority vote of the commissioners at a regular meeting, authorize
remote participation applicable to a specific meeting or generally to all of the commission’s
meetings. if a local commission on disability is authorized to utilize remote participation, a
physical quorum of that commission’s members shall not be required to be present at the
meeting location; provided, however, that the chair or, in the chair's absence, the person
authorized to chair the meeting, shall be physically present at the meeting location. The
commission shall comply with all other requirements of law.

(3) Revocation of Remote Participation. Any person or entity with the authority to adopt remote

participation pursuant to 940 CMR 29.10{2) may revoke that adoption in the same manner.

(4) Minimum Requirements for Remote Participation.

(a)

Members of a public body who participate remotely and all persons present at the meeting
location shall be clearly audible to each other as required by M.G.L. c. 304, § 20{(d);

45 |Page



(b)

(c)

A quorum of the body, including the chair or, in the chair’s absence, the person authorized to
chair the meeting, shall be physically present at the meeting location as required by M.G.L. c.
30A, § 20(d);

Members of public bodies who participate remotely may vote and shall not be deemed absent
for the purposes of M.G.L. c. 39, § 23D.

{(S) Permissible Reason for Remote Participation. If remote participation has been adopted in accordance

with 940 CMR 29.10(2), a member of a public body shall be permitted to participate remotely in a meeting
in accordance with the procedures described in 940 CMR 29.10(7) enly if physical attendance would be
unreasonably difficult.

(6) Technology.

{a)

(b)
{c)

(d)

(e}

The following media are acceptable methods for remote participation. Remote participation
by any other means is not permitted. Accommodations shall be made for any public body
member who requires TTY service, video relay service, or other form of adaptive
telecommunications.

1. telephone, internet, or satellite enabled audio or video conferencing;

2. any other technology that enables the remote participant and all persons present at

the meeting location to be clearly audible to one another.

When video technology is in use, the remote participant shall be clearly visible to all persons
present in the meeting location.
The public body shall determine which of the acceptable methods may be used by its
members.
The chair or, in the chair's absence, the person chairing the meeting, may decide how to
address technical difficulties that arise as a result of utilizing remote participation, but is
encouraged wherever possible to suspend discussion while reasonable efforts are made to
correct any problem that interferes with a remate participant’s ability to hear or be heard
clearly by all persons present at the meeting location. If technical difficulties result in a
remote participant being disconnected from the meeting, that fact and the time at which the
disconnection occurred shall be noted in the meeting minutes.
The amount and source of payment for any costs associated with remote participation shall
be determined by the applicable adopting entity identified in 940 CMR 29.10{2).

{7) Procedures for Remote Participation.

(a)

(b}
(e}
(d)

Any member of a public body who wishes to participate remotely shall, as soon as reasonably
possible prior to a meeting, notify the chair ar, in the chair's absence, the person chairing the
meeting, of his or her desire to do so and the reason for and facts supporting his or her
reguest.

At the start of the meeting, the chair shall announce the name of any member who will be
participating remotely. This information shall also be recorded in the meeting minutes.

All votes taken during any meeting in which a member participates remotely shall be by roll
cafl vote.

A member participating remotely may participate in an executive session, but shall state at
the start of any such session that no other person is present and/or able to hear the discussion
at the remote location, unless presence of that person is approved by a simple majority vote
of the public body.

46 | Pa g B



{e) When feasible, the chair or, in the chair's absence, the person chairing the meeting, shall
distribute to remote participants in advance of the meeting, copies of any documents or
exhibits that he or she reasonably anticipates will be used during the meeting. If used during
the meeting, such documents shall be part of the official record of the meeting and shall be
listed in the meeting minutes and retained in accordance with M.G.L. c. 30A, § 22.

(8) Further Restriction by Adopting Authority. 940 CMR 29.10 does not prohibit any person or entity
with the authority to adopt remote participation pursuant to 940 CMR 29.10(2) from enacting policies,
laws, rules or regulations that prohibit or further restrict the use of remote participation by public bodies
within that person or entity’s jurisdiction, provided those policies, laws, rules or regulations do not violate
state or federal law.

(9) Remedy for Violation. If the Attorney General determines after investigation that 940 CMR 29.10 has
been violated, the Attorney General may resolve the investigation by ordering the public body to
temporarily or permanently discontinue its use of remote participation.

29.11: Meeting Minutes

{1) A public body shali create and maintain accurate minutes of all meetings including executive sessions,
setting forth the date, time and place, the members present or absent, a summary of the discussions on
each subject, a list of documents and other exhibits used at the meeting, the decisions made and the
actions taken at each meeting, including the record of all votes in accordance with M.G.L. c. 304, § 22(a).

(2} Minutes of all open and executive sessions shall be created and approved in a timely manner. A
“timely manner” will generally be considered to be within the next three public body meetings or within
30 days, whichever is later, unless the public body can show good cause for further delay. The Attorney
General encourages public bodies to approve minutes at the next meeting whenever possible.

REGULATORY AUTHORITY
940 CMR 29.00; M.G.L. c. 30A, § 25{a) and {b).

47 |Page



Certificate of Receipt of Open Meeting Law Materials

i, , who qualified as a member of the
(Name)

, on , certify pursuant
{Public Body) {Date}

to G.L. c. 30A, § 20{h) and 940 CMR 29.04, that | have received and reviewed copies of the following
Open Meeting Law materials:

1) the Open Meeting Law, G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18-25;

2} the Attorney General’s Regulations, 940 CMR 29.00-29.11;

3) the Attorney General’s Open Meeting Law Guide, explaining the Open Meeting Law and its
application; and

4) if applicable, a copy of each Open Meeting Law determination issued by the Attorney
General within the last five {5) years to the public body of which | am a member and in
which the Attorney General found a violation of the Open Meeting Law.

| have read and understand the requirements of the Open Meeting Law and the consequences of
violating it. 1 further understand that the materials | have received may be revised or updated from time

to time, and that | have a continuing obligation to implement any changes to the Open Meeting Law

during my term of office.

{Name)

{Name of Public Body)

{Date)

Pursuant to G.L. c. 304, § 20{h), an executed copy of this certificate shalf be retained, according to the relevant
records retention schedule, by the appointing authority, city or town clerk, or the executive director or other
appropriate administrator of o state or regional body, or their designee.

48 :I Pa E o



940 CMR: OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
940 CMR 29.00: OPEN MEETINGS

Section

29.01: Purpose, Scopc and Other General Provisions
29.02: Definitions

29.03: Notice Posting Requirements
29.04: Certification

29.05: Complaints

29.06: Investigation

29.07: Resolution

29.08: Advisory Opinions

29.09: Other Enforcement Actions
29.10: Remote Participation

29.11: Meeting Minutes

29.01: Purpose. Scope and Other General Provisions

(1) Purpose. The purpose of 940 CMR 29.00 is to interpret, enforce and effectuate the purposes
of the Open Meeting Law, M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25.

(2) Scverability. If any provision of 940 CMR 29.00 or the application of such provision to any
person, public body, or circumstances shall be held invalid, the validity of the remainder of 940
CMR 29.00 and the applicability of such provision to other persons, public bodies, or
circumstances shall not be affected thereby.

(3) Mailing. All complaints, notices (except meeting notices), and other materials that must be
sent to another party shall be sent by one of the following means: first class mail, email, hand
delivery, or by any other means at least as expeditious as first class mail.

29.02: Definitions

As used in 940 CMR 29.00, the following terms shall, unless the context clearly requires
otherwise, have the following meanings:

County Public Body means a public body created by county government with jurisdiction that
comprises a single county.

District Public Body means a public body with jurisdiction that extends to two or more
municipalities.

Emergency means a sudden, generally unexpected occurrence or set of circumstances demanding
immediate action.



Intentional Violation means an act or omission by a public body or a member thereof, in
knowing violation of M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25. Evidence of an intentional violation of
M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25 shall include, but not be limited to, that the public body or
public body member: (a} acted with specific intent to violate the law; (b) acted with deliberate
ignorance of the law's requirements; or (c) was previously informed by receipt of a decision from
a court of competent jurisdiction or adviscd by the Attorney General, pursuant to 940 CMR
29.07 or 940 CMR 29.08, that the conduct violates M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25. Where a
public body or public body member has made a good faith attempt at compliance with the law,
but was rcasonably mistaken about its requirements, such conduct will not be considered an
intentional violation of M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25.

Person means all individuals and entities, including governmental officials and employees.
Person does not include public bodies.

Post Notice means to place a writien announcement of a meeting on a bulletin board, electronic
display, website, or in a loose-leaf binder in a manner conspicuously visible to the public,
including persons with disabilities, at all hours, in accordance with 940 CMR 29.03.

Public Body has the identical meaning as set forth in M.G.L. c. 30A, § 18, that is, a multiple-
member board, commission, committee or subcommittec within the executive or legislative
branch or within any county, district, city, region or town, however created, elected, appointed or
otherwisc constituted, established to serve a public purpose; provided, however, that the
governing board of a local housing, redevelopment or other similar authority shall be deemed a
local public body; provided, further, that the governing board or body of any other authority
established by the general court to serve a public purpose in the commonwealth or any part
thercof shall be deemed a state public body; provided, further, that "public body" shall not
include the general court or the commitices or recess comimissions thercof, bodics of the judicial
branch or bodies appointed by a constitutional officer solely for the purpose of advising a
constitutional officer and shall not include the board of bank incorporation or the policyholders
protective board; and provided further, that a subcommittec shail include any multiple-member
body created to advise or make recommendations to a public body.

Qualification_for Office means the election or appoittment of a person to a public body and the
taking of the oath of office, where required, and shall include qualification for a second or any
subscquent term of office. Where no term of office for a member of a public body is specified,
the member shall be deecmed to be qualified for office on a biennial basis following appointment
or clection to office.

Regional Public Bady means a public body with jurisdiction that extends to two or more
municipalitics.

Remote Participation means participation by a member of a public body during a meeting of that
public body where the member is not physically present at the meeting location.

29.03: Notice Posting Requirements



(1) Requirements Applicable to All Public Bodics.

(a) Except in an emergency, public bodies shall file meeting notices sufficiently in
advance of a public meeting to permit posting of the nolice at least 48 hours in advance
of the public meeting, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays, in accordance
with M.G.L. c. 30A, § 20. In an emergency, the notice shall be posted as soon as
reasonably possible prior to such meeting,

(b) Mceting notices shall be printed or displayed in a legible, casily understandable
format and shall contain the date, time and place of such meeting, and a listing of topics
that the chair reasonably anticipates will be discussed at the meeting. The list of lopics
shall have sufficient specificity 1o reasonably advise the public of the issues (o be
discussed at the meeting.

(c) Notices posted under an alternative posting method authorized by 940 CMR 29.03(2)
through (5) shall include the same content as required by 940 CMR 29.03(1)(b). If such
an alternative posting method is adopted, the municipal clerk, in the case of a
municipality, or the body, in all other cascs, shall file with the Attorney General written
notice of adoption of the alternative method, including the website address where
applicable, and any change thereto, and the most current notice posting method on file
with the Attorney General shall be consistently used.

(d) The date and time that a meeting notice is posted shall be conspicuously recorded
thereon or therewith. 1f an amendment occurs within 48 hours of a meeting, not
including Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays, then the date and time that the meeting
notice 1s amended shall also be conspicuously recorded thercon or therewith.

(2) Requirements Specific_to Local Public Bodies.

(a) The official method of posting notice shall be by filing with the municipal clerk, or
other person designated by agreement with the municipal clerk, who shall post notice of
the meeting in a manner conspicuously visible to the public at all hours in, on, or near the
municipal building in which the clerk's office is located.

(b) Alternatively, the municipality may adopt the municipal website as the official
method of notice posting.

1. The Chief Executive Officer of the municipality, as defined in M.G.L. c. 4, §
7, must authorize or, by a simple majority, vote to adopt the municipal website
as the official method of posting notice. Any municipality that has adopted its
website as the official method of posting notice by another method as of
October 6, 2017 will have satisfied the adoption requirement.

2. If adopted, a description of the website as the notice posting method,
including directions on how to locate notices on the website, shall be posted in
a manner conspicuously visible to the public at all hours on or adjacent to the



main and handicapped accessible entrances to the municipal building in which
the clerk's office is located.

3. Once adopted as the official method of notice posting, the website shall host
the official legal notice for meetings of all public bodies within the
municipality.

4. Notices must continue to be filed with the municipal clerk, or any other person
designated by agreement with the municipal clerk.

(c) A municipality may have only one official notice posting method for the purpose of
M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25, either 940 CMR 29.03(2)(a) or (b). However, nothing
precludes a municipality from choosing to post additional notices via other methods,
including a newspaper. Such additional notice will not be the official notice for the
purposes of M.G.L. ¢. 30A, §§ 18 through 25.

(d) Copics of notices shall also be accessible (o the public in the municipal clerk’s office
during the clerk's business hours.

(3) Requirements Specific to Regional or District Public Bodies.

(a) Notice shall be filed and posted in cach city and town within the region or district in
the manner prescribed for local public bodies in that city or town,

{b) As an alternative method of notice, a regional or district public body may, by majority
vote, adopt the regional or district public body's website as its official notice posting
method. A copy of cach mecting notice shall be kept by the chair of the public body or
the chair's designee in accordance with the applicable records retention schedules. The
public body shall file and post notice of the website address, as well as directions on how
to locate notices on the website, in each city and town within the region or district in the
manner prescribed for focal public bodics in that city or town.

(4) Requirements Specific to Regional School Districts.

(a) The sccretary of the regional school district commitice shall be considered to be its
clerk. The clerk of the regional school district committee shall file notice with the
municipal clerk of each city and town within such district and each such municipal clerk
shall post the notice in the manner prescribed for local public bodies in that city or town.

(b) As an alternative method of notice, a regional school district committee may, by
majority vote, adopt the regional school district's website as its official notice posting
method. A copy of each meeting notice shall be kept by the secretary of the regional
school district committee or the seeretary's designee in accordance with the applicable
records retention schedules. The regional school district committee shall file and post
notice of the website address, as well as directions on how to locate notices on the



website, in cach city and town within the region or district in the manner prescribed for
local public bodies in that city or town.

(5) Requirements Specific to County Public Bodies.

(a) Notice shall be filed and posted in the office of the county commissioners and a copy
of the notice shall be publicly posted in a manner conspicuously visible to the public at
all hours in such place or places as the county commissioners shall designate for this

purposc.

(b) As an alternative method of notice, a county public body may, by majority vote, adopt
the county public body's website as its official notice posting method. A copy of the
notice shall be kept by the chair of the county public body or the chair's designee in
accordance with the applicable records retention schedules. The county public body shall
file and post notice of the website address, as well as directions on how to locate notices
on the website, in the office of the county commissioners and a copy of the notice shall
be publicly posted in a manner conspicuously visible to the public at all hours in such
place or places as the county commissioncrs shall designate for this purpose.

(6) Requirements Specific 1o State Public Bodies. Notice shall be posted on a website, A copy of

each notice shall also be sent by first class or electronic mail to the Secretary of the
Commonwealth's Regulations Division. The chair of cach state public body shall notify the
Attorney General in writing of its webpage for listing meeting notices and any change to the
webpage location. The public body shall consistently use the most current website location on
file with the Attorney General. A copy of the notice shall be kept by the chair of the state public
body or the chair's designee in accordance with the applicable records retention schedules.

(7) Websites. Where a public body adopts a website as its method of noticing meetings, it must
make every effort to ensure that the website is accessible to the public at all hours. If a website
becomes inaccessible to members of the public within 48 hours of a meeting, not including
Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays, the municipal clerk or other individual responsible for
posting notice to the website must restore the website to accessibility within six hours of the
time, during regular business hours, when such individual discovers that the website has become
inaccessible. In the event that the website is not restored to accessibility within six business
hours of the website's deficicncy being discovered, the public body must re-post notice of its
meeting for another date and time in accordance with M.G.L. c. 304, § 20(b).

29.04: Certification

(1) For local public bodies, the municipal clerk, and for all other public bodics, the appoinling
authority, executive director, or other appropriate administrator or their designees, shall, upon a
public body member's qualification for office, cither deliver to the public body member, or
require the public body member to obtain from the Attomey General's website, the following
cducational materials:



(a) The Attomey General's Open Meeting Law Guide, which will include an explanation
of the requirements of the Open Meeting Law; the Open Meeling Law, M.G.L. c. 30A,
§§ 18 through 25; and the Attorney General's regulations, 940 CMR 29.00-29.11.

(b) A copy of each Open Mecting Law determination issucd to that public body by the
Attorney General within the last five years in which the Attorney General found a
violation of M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25. Open Meeting Law determinations are
available at the Attomey General's website.

(2) Educational matcrials may be delivered to public body members by paper copy or in digital
form.

(3) Within two weeks after receipt of the educational materials, the public body member shall
certify, on the form prescribed by the Attorney General, receipt of the educational materials. The
municipal clerk, appointing authority, executive director or other appropriate administrator, or
their designees, shall maintain the signed certification for each such person, indicating the date
the person received the materials.

(4) An individual serving on multiple public bodies must sign a certification for cach public body
on which he or she serves. A public body member does not need to sign a separate certification

when joining a subcommitice of the public body.

(5) A public body member must sign a new certification upon reelection or reappointment to the
public body.

20.05: Complaints

(1) All complaints shall be in writing, using the form approved by the Attorney General and
available on the Attomey General's website. A public body need not, and the Attorney General
will not, investigate or address anonymous complaints, A public body need not address a
complaint that is not signed by the complainant. A public body need not address a complaint that
is not filed using the Attorney General's complaint form,

(2) Public bodies, or the municipal clerk in the case of a local public body, should provide any
person, on request, with an Open Meeting Law Complaint Form. 1f a paper copy is unavailable,
then the public body should direct the requesting party to the Attorney General's websile, where
an electronic copy of the form will be available for downloading and printing,

(3) For local public bodics, the complainant shall file the complaint with the chair of the public
body, who shall disseminate copies of the complaint to the members of the public body. The
complainant shall also file a copy of the complaint with the municipal clerk, who shall keep such
filings in an orderly fashion for public review on request during regular business hours. For all
other public bodics, the complainant shall file the complaint with the chair of the relevant public
body, or if there is no chair, then with the public body.



(4) The complaint shall be filed within 30 days of the alleged violation of M.G.L. c. 304, §§ 18
through 25, or if the alleged violation of M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25, could not reasonably
have been known at the time it occurred, then within 30 days of the date it should reasonably
have been discovered.

(5) Within 14 business days after receiving the complaint, unlcss an extension has been granted
by the Attorney General as provided in 940 CMR 29.05(5)(b), the public body shall meet to
review the complaint's allegations; take remedial action, i appropriate; and send to the
complainant a response and a description of any remedial action taken. The public body shall
simultancously notify the Attomey General that it has sent such materials to the complainant and
shall provide the Attorney General with a copy of the complaint, the response, and a description
of any remedial action taken.

(a) Any remedial action taken by the public bedy in response to a complaint under 940
CMR 29.05(5) shall not be admissible as evidence that a violation occurred in any later
administrative or judicial proceeding against the public body relating to the alleged
violation,

(b} If the public body requires additional time to resolve the complaint, it may obtain an
extension from the Attorney General by submitting a written request within 14 business
days after receiving the complaint. A request may be submitted by the chair, the public
body's attorncy, or any person designated by the public body or the chair. The Attorney
General will grant an extension if the request demonstrates good cause. Good cause will
generally be found if, for example, the public body cannot meet within the 14 business
day period to consider proposed remedial action. The Attorney General shall notify the
complainant of any cxtension and the reason for it.

(0) If the public body needs additional information to resolve the complaint, then the chair may
request it from the complainant within seven business days of receiving the complaint. The
complainant shall respond within ten business days after receiving the request. The public body
will then have an additional ten business days after receiving the complainant's response to
review the complaint and take any remedial action pursuant to 940 CMR 29.05(5).

(7) If at least 30 days have passed afier the complaint was filed with the public body, and if the
complainant is unsatisfied with the public body's resolution of the complaint, the complainant
may file a complaint with the Attorney General. When filing a complaint with the Attorney
General, the complainant shall include a copy of the original complaint along with any other
materials the complainant believes are relevant. The Attorney General shall decline to investigate
complaints filed with the Attorney General more than 90 days after the alleged violation of
M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25, or if the alleged violation of M.G.L. c, 30A, §§ 18 through 25,
could not reasonably have been known at the time it occurred, then within 90 days of the date it
should reasonably have been discovered. However, this time may be extended if the Attorney
General grants an extension to the public body to respond to a complaint or if the complainant
demonstrates good cause for the delay in filing with the Attorney General.,



(8) The Attorney General shall acknowledge receipt of alt complaints and will resolve them
within a reasonable period of time, generally 90 days.

(9) Mcdiation tg Resolve a Complaint.

(a) If a complainant files five complaints alleging violations of M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ I8
through 25, with the same public body or within the same municipality within 12 months,
upon the fifth or subsequent complaint te that public body or a public body within that
municipality within the 12-month period, the public body may request mediation with the
complainant, at the public body's expensc, to resolve the complaint. A mediator is
defined by M.G.L. ¢. 233, § 23C, and will be selected by the Attorney General.

(b) A public body must request mediation prior o, or with, its response to the complaint.
If the mediation docs not produce an agreement, the public body will have ten business
days from the last joint meeting with the mediator to respond to the complaint.

(c) A public body may participate in mediation in open session, in exccutive session
through M.G.L. c. 30A, § 21(a)}(9), or by designating a representative to participate on
behalf of the public body.

{d) If the complainant declines lo participate in mediation afier a public body's request in
accordance with 940 CMR 29.05(9)(a), the Attorncy General may decline to review the
complaint if it is thereafter filed with the Attorney General.

(e) If the mediation docs not resolve the complaint to the satisfaction of both parties, then
the complainant may file a copy of his or her complaint with the Attorncy General and
request the Attorney General's review. The complaint must be filed with the Attorney
General within 30 days of the last joint meeting with the mediator.

(D) Any written agreement reached in mediation shail become a public record in its
cntircty and must be publicly disclosed at the next meeting of the public body following
execution of the agreement.

(g) Nothing in this section shall prevent a complainant from filing subsequent complaints,
however public bodies may continue to request mediation in an cffort to resolve
complaints in accordance with 940 CMR 29.05(9)(a).

(h) Nothing in this section shall prevent a public body or complainant from seeking
mediation to resolve any complaint. However, only mediation requests that follow the
requirements of 940 CMR 29.05(9)(a) will trigger the application of 940 CMR
29.05(9)(d).

29.06: Investigation




Following a timely complaint filed pursuant to 940 CMR 29.05, where the Attorney General has
reasonable cause to believe that a violation of M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25, has occurred,
then the Attorney General may conduct an investigation.

(1) The Attorney General shall notify the public body or person that is the subject of a complaint
of the existence of the investigation within a reasonable period of time. The Attorney General
shall also notify the public body or person of the nature of the alleged violation.

(2) Upon notice of the investigation, the subject of the investigation shall provide the Attorney
General with all information relevant to the investigation. The subject may also submit a
memorandum or other writing to the Attorney General, addressing the allegations being
investigated.

If the subject of the investigation fails to voluntarily provide the necessary or relevant
information within 30 days of recciving notice of the investigation, the Attorney General may
issue one or more civil investigative demands to obtain the information in accordance with
M.G.L. c. 30A, § 24(a), to:

(a) Take testimony under oath;
(b) Examine or cause 1o be examined any documentary material; or

(¢} Require attendance during such examination of documentary matcrial by any person
having knowledge of the documentary material and take testimony under oath or
acknowledgment in respect of any such documentary materiat.

Any documentary material or other information produced by any person pursuant to 940 CMR
29.06 shall not, unless otherwise ordered by a court of the Commonwealth for good cause
shown, be disclosed without that person’s consent by the Attorney General to any person other
than the Attorney General's authorized agent or representative. However, the Altorney General
may disclose the material in court pleadings or other papers filed in court; or, to the extent
necessary, in an administrative hearing or in a written determination to resolve the investigation
pursuant to 940 CMR 29.07.

29.07: Resolution

(1) No Violation. If the Attorney General determines, after investigation, that M.G.L. c. 304, §§
18 through 25, has not been violated, the Attorney General shall issue a written determination to
the subjcct of the complaint and copy any complainant.

(2) Violalion Resolved Without Hearing. If the Attomey General determines after investigation
that M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25, has been violated, the Attorney General may resolve the
investigation without a hearing. The Attorney General shall determine whether the relevant
public body, one or more of its members, or both, were responsible. The Attomey General will
notify, in writing, any complainant of the investigation's resolution. Upon finding a violation of
M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25, the Attorney General may take one of the following actions:



(a) Informal Action. The Attorney General may resolve the investigation with a letter or
other appropriate form of writlen communication that explains the violation and clarifies
the subject's obligations under M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25, providing ihe subject
with a reasonable period of time to comply with any outstanding obligations.

(b) Formal Order. The Attorney General may resolve the investigation with a formal
order. The order may require:

1. immediate and future compliance with M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25;

2. attendance at a training scssion authorized by the Attorney General,

3. nullification of any action taken at the relevant meeting, in wholc or in part,
4. that minutes, records or other materials be made public;

5. that an employec be reinstated without loss of compensation, seniority, tenure
or other benefits; or

6. other appropriate action.
Orders shall be available on the Attorney General's website.

(3) Violation Resolved After Hearing. The Atlorney General may conduct a hearing where the
Attorney General deems appropriate, The hearing shall be conducted pursuant to 801 CMR 1.00,
ct scq., as modified by any regulations issued by the Attorney General. At the conclusion of the
hearing, the Attorney General shall determine whether a violation of M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18
through 25, occurred and whether the public body, one or more of its members, or both, were
responsible. The Attorney General will notify, in writing, any complainant of the investigation's
resolution. Upon a finding that a violation occurred, the Attormey General may order:

(a) immediate and future compliance with M.G.L. ¢. 30A, §§ 18 through 25;

(b) attendance at a training session authorized by the Attorney General;

(c) nullification of any action taken at the relevant mecting, in whole or in part;

{d) imposition of a finc upon the public body of not more than $1,000 for cach intentional
violation; however, a fine will not be imposed where a public body or public body
member acted in good faith compliance with the advice of the public body's legal

counsel, in accordance with M.G.L. 30A, § 23(g);

{c) that an employce be reinstated without loss of compensation, scniority, tenure or other
benefits;



() that minutes, records or other materials be made public; or
(g) other appropriate action.
Orders issucd following a hearing shall be available on the Attorney General's website.

(4) A public body subject to an order of the Attorney General following a written determination
issued pursuant to 940 CMR 29.07 shall notify the Attorney General in writing of its compliance
with the order within 30 days of reccipt of the order, unless othenwisc indicated by the order
itself. A public body need not notify the Attorney General of its compliance with an order
requiring solely immediate and future compliance pursuant to 940 CMR 29.07(2)(b)}(1) or 940
CMR 29.07(3)(a).

(3) A public body or any member of a body aggricved by any order issued by the Attorney
General under 940 CMR 29.07 may obtain judicial review of the order through an action in
Superior Court seeking relief in the nature of certiorari. Any such action must be commenced in
Superior Court within 21 days of receipt of the order.

29.08: Advisory Opinions

The Attomey General will generally not issue advisory opinions. However, the Aliomney
Genceral may issue written guidance to address common requests for interpretation. Such written
guidance will appear on the Attorney General's website.,

29.09: Other Enforcement Actions

Nothing in 940 CMR 29.06 or 29.07 shall limit the Attorney General's authority to filc a civil
action to enforce M.G.L. ¢. 30A, §§ 18 through 25, pursuant to M.G.L. c. 30A, § 23(D.

29.10: Remote Participation

(1) Preamble. Remote participation may be permitted subject to the following procedures and
restrictions. However, the Attorney General strongly encourages members of public bodies to
physically attend meetings whenever possible. By promulgating 940 CMR 29.10, the Attorney
General hopes to promote greater participation in government. Members of public bodics have a
responsibility to ensure that remote participation in meetings is not used in a way that would
defeat the purposes of the M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25, namely promoting transparency
with regard to deliberations and decisions on which public policy is based.

(2) Adoption of Remote Participation. Remote participation in mectings of public bodies is not
permitted unless the practice has been adopted as follows:

{a) Local Public Bodics. The Chief Executive Officer, as defined in M.G.L. c. 4,87,
must authorize or, by a simple majority, vote to allow remote participation in accordance
with the requirements of 940 CMR 29.10, with that authorization or vote applying to all
subsequent meetings of all local public bodies in that municipality.



(b) Regional or District Public Bodies. The regional or district public body must, by a
simple majority, vote to allow remote participation in accordance with the requirements
of 940 CMR 29.10, with that vote applying to all subsequent meetings of that public body
and its committces.

(¢) Regional School Districts. The regional school district committee must, by a simple
majority, vote to allow remote participation in accordance with the requirements of 940
CMR 29.10, with that vote applying to all subsequent meetings of that public body and
ils committecs.

(d) County Public Bodies. The county commissioners must, by a simple majority, vole to
allow remote participation in accordance with the requirements of 940 CMR 29.10, with
that vote applying to all subsequent mectings of all county public bodies in that county.

{e) State Public Bodies. The state public body must, by a simple majority, vote to allow
remote participation in accordance with the requirements of 940 CMR 29.10, with that
vote applying to all subscquent mectings of that public body and its commuttees.

() Retirement Boards. A retirement board created pursuant to M.G.L. ¢. 32, § 20 or
M.G.L. c. 34B, § 19 must, by a simple majority, vote to allow remote participation in
accordance with the requirements of 940 CMR 29.10, with that vote applying to all
subsequent meetings of that public body and its committees.

{g) Local Commissions on Disability. In accordance with M.G.L. c. 30A, § 20(e), a local
commission on disability may by majority vote of the commissioncers at a regular meeting
authorize remote participation applicable to a specilic meeting or gencrally to all of the
commission's meetings. 11 a local commission on disability is authonized to utilize remole
participation, a physical quorum of that commission's members shall not be required to
be present at the meeting location; provided, however, that the chair or. in the chair's
absence, the person authorized to chair the meeting, shall be physically present at the
meeting location. The commission shall comply with all other requirements of law.

(3) Revocation of Remote Participation. Any person or entity with the authority to adopt remate
participation purstiant to 940 CMR 29.10(2) may revoke that adoption in the same manner.

(4) Minimum Requirements for Remote Participation.

(a) Members of a public body who participate remotely and all persons present at the
meeting location shall be clearly audible to cach other, as required by M.G.L. c. 30A, §
20(d);

(b) A quorum of the body, including the chair or, in the chair's absence, the person
authorized to chair the meeting, shall be physically present at the mecting location, as
required by M.G.L. c. 304, § 20(d),



(c) Members of public bodies who participate remotely may vote and shall not be deemed
absent for the purposes of M.G.L. c. 39, § 23D.

(5) Permissible Reason for Remote Participation. If remote participation has been adopted in

accordance with 940 CMR 29.10(2), a member of a public body shall be permitted to participate
remotcly in a meeting, in accordance with the procedures described in 940 CMR 29. 10(7), only
if physical attendance would be unreasonably difficult.

(6) Technology.

(a) The following media are acceptable methods for remote participation. Remote
parlicipation by any other means is not permitted. Accommeodations shall be made for
any public body member who requires TTY service, video relay service, or other form of
adaptive telccommunications.

1. telephone, internet, or satellite enabled audio or video conferencing;

i. any other technology that enables the remote participant and all persons present
at the meeting location to be clearly audible 1o one another.

(b) When video technology is in use, the remote participant shall be clearly visible to all
persons present in the meeting location.

(¢) The public body shall determine which of the acceptable methods may be used by its
members.

(d) The chair or, in the chair's absence, the person chairing the mecting, may decide how
to address technical difficulties that arise as a result of utilizing remote participation, but
is encouraged, wherever possible, to suspend discussion while reasonable efforts are
made to correct any problem that interferes with a remote participant's ability to hear or
be hcard clearly by all persons present at the meeting location. If technical difficulties
result in a remote participant being disconnected from the meeting, that fact and the time
at which the disconnection occurred shali be noted in the meeting minutes.

(¢) The amount and source of payment for any costs associated with remote pariicipation
shall be determined by the applicable adopting entity identified in 940 CMR 29.10(2).

(7) Procedures for Remote Participation.

(a) Any member of a public body who wishes to participate remotely shall, as soon as
reasonably possible prior to a meeting, notify the chair or, in the chair's absence, the
person chairing the meeting, of his or her desire to do so and the reason for and facts
supporting his or her request.



(b) At the start of the meeting, the chair shall announce the name of any member who
will be participating remotely. This information shall also be recorded in the meeting
minutes.

(c) All votes taken during any mecting in which a member participates remotely shall be
by roll call vote.

(d) A member participating remotely may participate in an cxecutive session, but shall
state at the start of any such scssion that no other person is present and/or able to hear the
discussion at the remote location, unless prescnce of that person is approved by a simple
majority vote of the public body.

(c) When feasible, the chair or, in the chair's absence, the person chairing the meeting,
shall distribute to remote participants, in advance of the meeting, copies of any
documents or exhibits that he or she reasonably anticipates will be used during the
meeting. If used during the meeting, such documents shall be part of the official record of
the meeting, and shall be listed in the meeting minutes and retained in accordance with
M.G.L. c. 30A, § 22.

(8) Further Restriction by Adopting Authority. 940 CMR 29.10 does not prohibit any person or
entity with the authority to adopt remote participation pursuant to 940 CMR 29.10(2) from
enacting policies, laws, rules or regulations that prohibit or further restrict the usc of remote
participation by public bodics within that person or entity's jurisdiction, provided those policics,
laws, rules or regulations do not violate state or federal law,

(9) Remedy for Violation. If the Attorney General determings, after investigation, that 940 CMR
29.10 has been violated, the Attorney General may resolve the investigation by ordering the
public body to temporarily or permanently discontinue its use of remote participation.

29.11: Meeting Minutes

(1) A public body shall create and maintain accurate minutes of all meetings, including executive
sessions, setting forth the date, time and place, the members present or absent, a summary of the
discussions on each subject, a list of documents and other exhibits used at the mceeting, the
decisions made and the actions taken at cach meeting, including the record of all votes, in
accordance with M.G.L. c. 30A, § 22(a).

(2) Minutes of all open and executive sessions shall be created and approved in a timely manner.
A “timcly manner” will generally be considered to be within the next three public body meetings
or within 30 days, whichever is later, unless the public body can show good causc for further
delay. The Attorney General encourages public bodies to approve minutes at the next meeling
whenever possible.

REGULATORY AUTHORITY 940 CMR 29.00: M.G.L. c. 30A, § 25(a) and (b).



Guide for Members of Public
Boards and Commissions

How to be an Effective

Board Member of a Public
Board or Commission

Commonwealth of Massachusetts
Office of the Inspector General

Glenn A. Cunha
Inspector General

November 2017 Edition

A%
STapyisnen




Table of Contents

Guide for Members of Public Boards and COmMMISSIONS ......cuiiarimiserisersserrorsersemnroneeniononssonsasas 1
Practices for Effective Board Members .....cccccivsiiisinsisnisminsenesnisissssssinossssssssssssissorsssaneransnsnes 2
1. Learn about the public OrBaNIiZation. ...t ca s nern s 2
2. Educate yourself about the role of your board (and your role as a board member)......... 3
3. Uphold fiduciary principles and act in the best interests of the public organization. ....... 4
4. Exercise care when making decisions and voting by informing yourself, asking
QUESEIONS and eXPeCting ANSWETS. .....ccviiiiiiiiiii e asnreressssansseesn 4
5. Actively oversee the executive who leads the organization. ... 5
6. Actively monitor and protect public expenditures. ... 7
7. Consider your ethical responsibilities and avoid potential conflicts of interest and
T e e o e e P e O T 8
8. Operate in compliance with the Massachusetts Open Meeting Law........cccoovrnicenc 10
9. Ensure that you operate in compliance with the Massachusetts Public Records Law. ... 12
10. Detect and report suspected fraud, wrongdoing or other misuse of public resources:
If you see something, say SOMEthiNgG. ..o 13
CONCIUSION cvvrerirernereirerenmieremererananmersosrstsesssatsssssssisssssssssssnsarssesisesetsnnsseussoesss esnssneennsereraonssss 15
Appendix A:  Sources of Advice and AsSIStANCE.......ccivrvnricncisiccnineni s 16

i|Page



This page is intentionally left blank,

ii|Page



Guide for Members of Public Boards and Commissions

Congratulations on your appointment to a public board or commission (“public board”). Your
service to the citizens of Massachusetts is essential to good government. Thank you for your
commitrent to fulfilling your duties and responsibilities as a public board member.

Public boards take many forms. Some provide direct oversight to a state, county or local
governmental entity (collectively, a “public organization”). Other boards set policy for their
public organization and some make advisory recommendations. Still others perform a
combination of these functions.

Whether you serve on a state, county or local board, you
support a public organization that provides public
services with public funds. Your work is important, | ¥ your board has a role in overseeing the

- . . public  official  leading a  public
whether you are advising your public organization on organization — or if your board provides
policy matters, approving salaries, reviewing the budget, | jnout on o public program, the use of
or assessing the executive director’s performance. Your | public funds or the care of public property
participation, insights and engagement as a citizen and | —you should read this guide. Similarly, if
active decision-maker are essential to ensuring that your | Yov ore @ member of o board that

. i b i , provides advice or recommendations to a
public organlzatloptftljlfrlls its mission and uses public public organization, this guide will help
resources appropriately.

you fulfill your duties as a board member,

Who should use this guide?

This guide outlines practices, such as upholding fiduciary
principles, that will help you effectively perform your role. it also provides an overview of the
laws that apply to your position. These laws relate to the meetings your board holds, your
official acts and communications, and your individual conduct. These laws serve to promote
open, transparent and accountable government — essential elements to our representative
democracy.

Use this guide to understand your obligations and to help
you perform your duties as a public board member to
the best of your abilities. The appendix at the end of this
guide contains additional resources, including contact

Public boards take many forms, such os:

e Public university boards of
trustees
o Redevelopment authority boards

information for state agencies that interpret and enforce of trustees

the laws applicable to you and your board. e  Municipal light department
boards of commissioners

Thank you again for your commitment to fulfilling your *  Housing autharity boards

o Town finance committees

» Library boards of trustees

®  Municipal select boards

e FEconomic development
authorities

duties and responsibilities as a public board member.

1|Page



Practices for Effective Board Members

The following practices will help you succeed in fulfilling your obligations as a public board
member.

1. Learn about the public organization.

When you are first appointed, get to know the public organization you serve. Learn about the
public organization’s mandate or mission, which may be found in state law or a local ordinance.
A public organization’s mandate often identifies the scope of its authority to carry out its public
purpose or service, as well as any procedures governing how it achieves its mission and any
regulations or by-laws that its officers or appointees must follow.

In addition, learn about how the public organization fulfills its mission. Read about the
programs it operates and the segments of the public it serves. Ask for past annual reports and
budgets, as well as a current organizational chart. Learn about recent achievements and
upcoming initiatives or special projects.’

Ask:

e What is the public organization’s mission or mandate?
e What rules, regulations or by-laws govern the public organization, if any?

Delve deeper and ask:

e How does the organization carry out its mission or purpose?

e Haow is the organization structured?

* What is the organization’s annual budget? Who sets the budget and who
decides how it is spent?

e Who are the senior officials in the organization and what are their roles?

e What are the major projects or objectives that the public organization is
considering over the next few years? What will be the projected cost of these
projects?

e Are the proposed projects and objectives consistent with the mission of the
public organization and with the organization’s budget and other priorities?

The answers to these questions will help you understand how the public organization operates
and will enable you to become an effective and involved board member.

! The State Auditor conducts periodic audits of state agencies, quasi-state agencies and housing
authorities. If you serve on such a board, check the State Auditor’s website, available at
www.mass.gov/auditor, for audit reports on your public organization.

2|Page



2. Educate yourself about the role of your board {and your role as a board member).

In order to be an effective public board member, you need to understand your board’s role

with respect to the public organization. Some boards provide
direct oversight to ensure that the public crganization operates
effectively and in accordance with its mandate, while others | ;3 order to guide the public
work in an advisory capacity to help guide a public organization | organization toward  the
toward particular goals and outcomes. The board’s role is | realization of its mission, goals
usually set out in a statute, local ordinance or other enabling

document.

Ask:

You should understand the
board’s role and responsibilities

and objectives.

e What is the scope of the board’s authority and what is the source of that

authority?

* What matters typically come before the board?
» Based on the board’s role with respect to the organization, are there other
matters that should be brought before the board?

You should also understand how the board operates, including how often it meets, how the
agenda is established and the procedures that govern the meetings. As a starting point, read
the meeting minutes from at least the past four board meetings.

Ask:

s How often does the board meet? Is the
board required to meet on a specific
schedule and, if yes, what is that
schedule?

e Who sets the agenda for the meetings?
Can board members submit topics for the
agenda?

Public boards should meet regularly to
facilitate open, vigorous and in-depth
discussions in compliance with the
Massachusetts Open Meeting Law,
which is outlined later in this guide.

o Does your board follow written procedures for meetings, such as Robert’s Rules

of Order?

e How does the board vote? Are all votes conducted in the same manner?

Furthermore, take steps to learn how the chairperson and other officers are selected, if there
are limits for serving as an officer and whether your board may establish committees. Request

lists of all current board members and committees.

Ask:

* How are officers selected?

Your board may find it helpful to adopt o
set of written operating procedures,
including for the conduct of meetings,
term limits ond leadership appointments,
if they are not already in place.

3|Page



¢ Does the board have committees and if so, how are members selected to serve
on them?
e Are there term limits for officers, board members or committee members?

3. Uphold fiduciary principles and act in the best interests of the public organization.

In some instances, the law may consider you a fiduciary. A fiduciary is someone who owes a
particular duty of care, known as a fiduciary duty, to an entity or individual — in this case, a
public organization. A fiduciary duty requires an individual to act with good faith, loyalty and
due care. A fiduciary must act in the best interests of the public organization.

Even if you are not a fiduciary under the law, fiduciary — - -
L . . A fiduciary is “someone who is required
principles should guide the decisions that you and your | ¢4 act for the benefit of another person
board make. Adhering to fiduciary principles will help | on all matters within the scope of their
. - . relationship; one who owes to another
the board recognize that it is a steward of the public the duties of good faith, loyalty, due care,
funds entrusted to the organization, and that the board | and disclosure.” Black’s Law Dictionary
plays a vital role in ensuring the public organization | 10thed.(2014).
fulfills its mission. As part of upholding fiduciary principles, the board should always act

independently, with care and in the best interests of the organization.

Board members who adhere to the fiduciary principles will be active participants in board
matters, will stay informed and will act in the best interests of the organization. Fiduciary
Using fiduciary principles as the principles remind the board that it must act on behalf of

framework for your board will result } the organization, not its executive. They will lead the board
in an active, well-informed board
that acts in the public organization’s o . . .
best interests and assists the | accountability from the executive, which will help the

organization to achieve its mission. public organization operate effectively, transparently and in

to actively oversee the executive and to expect

accordance with its mission.

4. Exercise care when making decisions and voting by informing yourself, asking questions
and expecting answers.

To be an active and effective board member, you must be informed. Consequently, before
your board meets, arm yourself with accurate information to make thoughtful decisions. Take
time to prepare for meetings in advance; read the materials that are distributed and think
about the issues on the agenda.

4|Page



Ask:

¢ How far in advance does the board receive meeting materials so that you can
properly prepare for pending actions before voting on a matter before the
board?

e What is the procedure for requesting the organization to provide additional
information, either in advance of or at a meeting?

e What is the procedure for asking individuals from the organization to attend the
meeting to provide additional information?

Public discourse, analysis and debate are expected, whether public board members are trustees
of a public college or commissioners of a local housing authority. When your board meets, ask
probing questions that are relevant to the issue and debate the issue at hand during meetings
to get information that will help you make an informed decision. If the chair of the board or an
official in the organization does not provide you with the necessary information to make an
informed decision, ask for it. If you do not receive the information you need, ask to change the
date of the vote.

Before voting on a matter, ask probing questions, such as:

s What statutes or regulations apply to the requested action?

¢ What internal procedures apply to the requested action and were those
procedures followed?

e Does the requested action align with the public organization’s mission,
responsibilities, priorities and budget?

¢ Do you need additional data so that you can make an informed decision?

¢ Do you need to hear from others in the organization? For instance, does legal
counsel or human resources have information necessary to make this decision?

Finally, exercise your own judgment and always act in the best interests of the public
organization. Do not allow yourself to be marginalized by an executive or fellow board member
who may assert knowledge or expertise above yours or who simply does not agree with you.
Do not rubber stamp official acts that come before your public board — your work is important
and you need to be informed.

5. Actively oversee the executive who leads the organization.

It is likely that your public organization is run by an executive, such as a public college
president, a director or other professional, and that your board is responsible for overseeing
the executive, If so, respect the trust the taxpayers placed in you. While you do not want to
interfere with the day-to-day management of the public organization, you do want to make
certain that the executive's actions align with the objectives of the public organization. The
executive reports to you and is accountable to the board. Be an active overseer.

S|Page



Expect the executive to timely inform the board of major projects, expenditures and initiatives.
Use board meetings to discuss substantive issues with the executive, such as budget planning,
capital projects and significant policy matters. Ask questions, seek clarification and get back-up
documentation. Collaboration with the executive will require open communication and
infarmation-sharing.

Ask:

¢  What are the executive’s objectives and priorities for the organization?
* Do these objectives align with the organization’s mission and values?
¢ What are the financial costs of achieving these objectives?

To help both the executive and the organization, your board should conduct an annual
performance evaluation of the executive. it also must establish a system to track and account
for the executive’s vacation, sick and work time, Both the performance assessment and the
mechanism used to account for the executive’s time should be established in writing. The
board also should ensure that the organization can track other expenses and requests for
reimbursements.

The board should approve the executive’s expenses and reimbursements (at least those above
a certain dollar threshold). This includes reviewing the back-up documentation for the
executive’s expenses and reimbursements. Staff who report to the executive are not in a
position to question the executive’s performance, expenditures or conduct; the board’s
independence and oversight in this regard therefore are critical.

Similarly, perform your due diligence before signing the

S o e o Be clear about time expectations. If th
executive's contract — whether it is the executive’s first “ P f the

executive must devote his fufl time and

contract or a renewal. Your board should do its own,
independent research to ensure that the salary and
other benefits offered, including vacation time, sick
leave and other fringe benefits, are reasonable and
consistent with standard practices. Make sure that they

attention to the public organization,
make that explicit in the contract. If the
position is part-time, the contract should
clearly set out time and attendonce
requirements.

are comparable to those of other executives with like experience and expertise who work in
similar public settings. And very importantly, ensure that the compensation is consistent with

the public organization’s budgetary commitments.

Finally, apply the same due diligence if you have to
recruit a new executive for the public organization.
Conduct an appropriate search that provides you with a
talented applicant pool. As part of the selection process,
speak with references and conduct a background check.

Two online sources that provide
information aobout stote salaries ore
Open Checkbook, availoble  at
www.opencheckbook.itd.state.ma.us/on
alytics/sow.dlI?Dashboard, and CTHRU,
available at www.macomptroller.org.

6|Page




Ask:

o What is the organization’s budget for the executive’s salary?

s How much time is the executive required to devote to the public organization?

» How does the organization document and verify the executive’s work, vacation
and sick leave hours?

. ; e,

¢ W.hat is the p ublﬂ:_ organ{zatlon .5 expense Consider establishing an independent
reimbursement policy? Is it consistent with | suqir committee that reports to the
the public organization’s missions and | board. Among other duties, the
objectives? Does it clearly define how the | committee could periodically audit
executive’s expenses are reviewed and | reimbursements and expenses at the

executive level.

approved?

e Do the executive's reimbursement requests match legitimate expenses related
to the public organization’s public purpose?

6. Actively monitor and protect public expenditures.

Your board may be responsible for approving budgets, capital projects and other expenditures.
If that is the case, your public board ensures that a public organization utilizes its finite public
resources wisely and complies with the laws that govern the use of those resources. You are
the steward of those resources as a public board member.

As a starting point, learn to read a financial statement. You do not need to be an accounting
expert, but understanding financial statements is essential to ensuring that your organization is
using its public resources appropriately. If accounting is not your area of expertise, consider
asking a professional from within the organization to give the board a tutorial on reading
financial statements. Be sure to not only look at the figures in the financial statement, but also
be sure to review the accounting firm’s notes regarding litigation and other matters that may
affect the financial soundness of the organization. Also, when financial material is presented at
a board meeting, ask questions to clarify any unclear information. Chances are high that if you
are uncertain about the information, other board members are, too.

You also should understand the public bidding laws that apply to your organization. In
Massachusetts, many public organizations must follow particular laws and procedures before
undertaking construction projects; buying supplies, services and real property; or disposing of
surplus supplies and property. The Legislature designed these laws to ensure that all qualified
vendors have a fair and equal opportunity to compete for public contracts and that taxpayer
money is spent wisely. To the extent you can, educate yourself or obtain training on these
laws. Additional resources to help you understand these laws are available in Appendix A at the
end of this guide.

7|Page



Ask:

¢ What laws must the public organization follow related to purchasing or disposing
of goods, services and real property?
e What laws must the public organization follow in connection with construction

projects?
* What are the public organization’s | The Office of the Inspector General
written procurement policies? provides several resources, including

. . procurement charts and manuals, to help
e What audit procedures are in place to I T e ey aap

ensure that the organization is | construction faws. For more information,
complying with state law and its | please visit the Office’s website, available
internal procedures? at www.mass.gov/ig.

At the state level, the Massachusetts Comptroller maintains “CTHRU,” a comprehensive
electronic database of state expenditures, including state salaries and payments made to
vendors by state agencies. Use this database, available at www.macomptroller.org, to learn
more about your agency’s expenditures or to compare your organization’s expenses to other
public organizations.

If you are a member of a local board that serves a local public organization, inquire about
whether there is an electronic resource similar to "CTHRU," so that you may have more
information at your fingertips about the budget, salaries and spending of the organization.

Armed with this information you will be able to make meaningful determinations about
financial matters that come before your board.

7. Consider your ethical responsibilities and follow the Massachusetts conflict-of-interest
law.

As a public board member, you likely are subject to the state’s conflict-of-interest law, which is
designed to ensure that all public employees act for the benefit of the public organization, free
from personal bias or gain. The law impacts your conduct as a board member, as well as
certain activities you undertake separate from your board membership. Forinstance, the law:

¢ Restricts you from discussing or voting on matters in which you or an immediate
family member, or your private business has a financial interest.

¢ Restricts you from accepting gifts and gratuities, if given because of some official
act or because of official position, even if the gift or gratuity would not influence
your actions as a board member.

* Requires you to disclose in writing any appearances of a conflict of interest prior
to performing your official duties, and prohibits favoritism toward a family
member or friend or bias against a business associate.,

e Restricts you from representing business or other interests before your board.

8|Page



The law also requires you to:

o Complete training on the conflict-of-
interest law. You have to acknowledge | confiict-of-interest summary annuaily
receiving a summary of the conflict-of- | and complete the online training
interest law every year and complete the | program every two years. If you have
Ethics Commission’s free, online training
program within 30 days after vyour
appointment. you.

» File disclosures in certain instances

You must acknowledge receipt of the

not taken the training, contact the
Ethics Comrmnission (see Appendix A) or
the individual or office that appointed

involving actual and potential conflicts of interest.

The Ethics Commission
provides free advice to all
public employees on the
conflict-of-interest  lows.
its website, available at
www.mass.gov/orgs/state
-ethics-commission,  also
contains helpful advisories,
guides and rulings.

You must abstain or recuse yourself from a matter under
consideration by your public board if certain financial

interests are affected.

If a matter before your board | part of an internal control plan related
creates an appearance of a conflict for you, you must first | to possible confiicts of interest. It may

disclose the nature of the conflict in writing before | prompt disclosure before a conflict
participating in deliberations and voting on the matter. At | 275€*

Keep the conflict-of-interest law especially in mind when your board
deliberates or votes on an issue. Your vote matters. It is an official
act and your decisions or deliberations must be independent and
free from personal bias, personal gain and personal advantage.
When you believe there may be a conflict between your official
duties and your personal interest, at a minimum you must disclose
that conflict. Disclosure forms and instructions are available on the
Ethics Commission’s website.

You may want to consider circulating
an annual “outside activities” form as

a minimum, disclosure creates transparency and helps ensure accountability, impartiality and
independence. It enhances the public’s confidence in the integrity and fairness of our
government and its processes. It helps ensure the delivery of honest services unencumbered
by personal interast or gain.

To help your board and your public organization comply with the conflict-of-interest law, ask:

e Have all board members completed the conflict-of-interest law’'s educational
requirements?

e Does your board or the public organization understand how to complete and
submit conflict-of-interest law disclosure forms? If so, where are they retained?

e Does your board have a written policy about abstention or recusal?

e Are you permitted to work on outside activities that may impact your role as a
board member? If so, how are outside activity requests approved?

9|Page



* Does your board require the executive to file disclosure forms or outside activity
forms? If so, are the forms reviewed? Is there an approval process required?
Are these activities monitored for potential conflicts?

Finally, remember that the conflict-of-interest law applies to your fellow board members,
employees of the public organization and, in certain instances, to consultants and contractors.
If you learn of a potential conflict of interest — whether by a board member, senior executive or
employee - you need to properly address it. Seek advice from your board's legal counsel or
contact the Ethics Commission.

8. Operate in compliance with the Massachusetts open meeting law.
When you were appointed, you should have received a copy of the state’s open meeting law.

Similar to the conflict-of-interest law, the open meeting law applies to both your individual
conduct and the board’s operations. For example:

Once appointed, olf public boord

e Public boards must give advanced notice : e
members must sign a certification form

of the topics that will be discussed at a
meeting.

Meetings of public boards must be open
to the public, although in limited
circumstances members may hold certain
aspects of the meeting in closed session,
away from public view,

Discussing certain matters with other

stating that they have received certain
educational  materials, that they
understand the requirements of the
open meeting law and that they
understand the consequences for
violating it. These educational materials
include the text of the law, the Attorney
General's regulations, the Attorney
General's Open Meeting Law Guide, and

copies of all determination letters from
the past five years where the Attorney
General found that the public body had
violated the open meeting law,

board members outside of a properly
noticed meeting — such as by email or
telephone — will likely violate the open
meeting law.

Because the open meeting law promotes openness and transparency in government, it contains
specific notice requirements to ensure that the public knows — prior to the meeting - when and
where the board will meet, along with what topics the board intends to discuss at the meeting.
Except in the case of an emergency, a public board must provide notice of its meeting 48 hours
in advance (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays). The notice must include the date,
time and location of the meeting, as well as a list of all topics that the chair reasonably
anticipates will be discussed.?

The law seeks to balance the public’s interest in witnessing the deliberations of public officials
with the government’s need to manage its operations efficiently. Consequently, a board may

2 The open meeting law also contains additional requirements concerning meeting notices,
including where the notice must be posted.

10| Page



only discuss the topics listed in the meeting notice, unless the topic was not reasonably
anticipated when the notice was posted. While public bodies (such as boards) may discuss
topics that were not reasonably anticipated by the chair, the Massachusetts Attorney General
encourages public bodies to postpone discussion of any topics of significant public concern until
notice can be given to the public.

Further, while most board discussions must be public, as noted zbove, there are certain
situations in which the board may vote to meet in private. In these instances, your public board
may discuss a matter in what is known as an “executive session.” An executive session may be
held for any of ten permissible reasons, as specified in the open meeting law. Public bodies are
required to post notice of anticipated executive sessions, listing the topics to be discussed
behind closed doors with as much detail as possible without compromising the lawful purpose
for secrecy. Public bodies must begin meetings in open session before entering executive
session and must take a vote to enter executive session, again providing as much detail as
possible about what will be discussed behind closed doors.

Ten purposes for executive session:

While all meetings of public bodies must be open to the public, certain topics may be discussed in executive, or
closed, session.

1. To discuss the reputation, character, physical condition or mental health, rather than professional
competence, of an individual, or to discuss the discipline or dismissal of, or complaints or charges brought
against, a public officer, employee, staff member or individuol;

2. To conduct strategy sessions in preparation for negotiations with nonunion personnel or to conduct collective
bargaining sessions or contract negotiations with nonunion personnel;

3. To discuss strategy with respect to collective bargaining or litigation if an open meeting may have a
detrimental effect on the bargaining or litigating position of the public body and the chair so declares;

4. To discuss the deployment of security personnel or devices, or strategles with respect thereto;
5. To investigate charges of criminal misconduct or to consider the fifing of criminal complaints;

§. To consider the purchase, exchange, Jease or value of real property if the chair declares that an open meeting
may have a detrimental effect on the negotiating position of the public body;

7. To comply with, or act under the authority of, any general or special law or federal grant-in-aid requirements;

8. To consider or interview applicants for employment or appointment by a preliminary screening committee if
the chair declares that an open meeting will have a detrimental effect in obtaining quaiified applicants;
provided, however, that this clause shall not apply to any meeting, including meetings of o preliminary
screening committee, to consider and interview applicants who have passed a prior preliminary screening;

9, To meet or confer with a mediator, as defined in section 23C of chapter 233, with respect to any litigation or
decision on any public business within its jurisdiction invoiving another party, group or entity, provided that:

{i) any decision to participate in mediation shall be made in an open session and the parties, issues
involved and purpose of the mediation shall be disclosed; and

{ii} no action shall be taken by any public body with respect to those issues which ore the subject of the
mediation without deliberation and approval for such action at an open session.

10. To discuss trade secrets or confidential, competitively-sensitive or other proprietary information provided:

in the course of activities conducted by a governmental body as an energy supplier under a license
granted by the department of public utilities pursuant to G.L. ¢. 164, § 1F.




The open meeting law prohibits communication between or among a quorum of a public board
outside of a noticed meeting on any business within that board’s jurisdiction.? Therefore, a
series of telephone calls or emails between a quorum of board members — often referred to as
“serial deliberations” — could violate the open meeting law. This is because the public is
entitled to notice and an opportunity to witness deliberations concerning hoard business.

Ask:

¢ Does your public organization post meeting notices in advance?

e Do members discuss only what is on the agenda at the meeting?

* Does your board vote to enter “executive session” properly and only for the
reasons set forth in the open meeting law?

* Does your board have practices in place to ensure that members do not have
serial deliberations that violate the open meeting law?

The open meeting law addresses many topics, such as remote participation and meeting
minutes, that are not discussed here. The Massachusetts Attorney General’s Office ("AGO”") is
responsible for interpreting and enforcing the open meeting law. It produces a comprehensive
guide to the open meeting law, as well as helpful educational material and rulings. The AGO
also provides in-person and online trainings about the open meeting law. That website is
available at www.mass.gov/ago. Visit the AGO’s website, or contact the AGO’s Division of Open
Government, to learn more about the open meeting law.

9. Ensure that you operate in compliance with the Massachusetts public records law.

The public records law is another way citizens may examine whether their government is
functioning in accordance with its public policy objectives and in compliance with the law.
Indeed, the public records law supports transparency of the decision-making process and
promotes the accountably of public employees, public boards and government officials to the
taxpayers.

Consequently, the law requires that you retain certain records for a period of time, and that
you turn over certain records if a member of the public requests them ~ when they contain
content related to your official capacity. This is true even if the records are on your personal
computer, personal cellphone or personal email account.

Al public boards receive and generate public records in the regular course of business. You
also generate public records when you operate in your official capacity as a public board
member. If you communicate with another individual in your official capacity or exchange

? For the purposes of the open meeting law, a quorum is a simple majority of the members of
the public board. For example, in the case of a five-member board, the quorum would be
three.

12| Page



information about matters under your board’s purview, for instance, you may create a public
record even if you use your personal email, voicemail or video recording to transmit that
information. A common misperception exists that communications on personal email accounts
or via text messages are not subject to the public records law; this is incorrect as all board-
related communications are subject to public disclosure.

In addition, the law defines the term “record” very broadly and it includes more than written
meeting minutes or agendas. For example, records can include
emails, photographs, voicemails, video tapes, attendance lists and ,

. i N ) Commonwealith’s
public meeting sign-in sheets. These records are subject to public | ogice provides record
records requests, and you may be required to keep these documents | retention schedules for
for a certain period of time. Check with your public organization and | state, county and local
the Secretary of the Commonwealth to determine the full scope of | governmental entities.
your record retention obligations.

The Secretary of the

Ask:

e Does your board have a written policy or a practice related to managing public
records requests?

+« Do public board members respond to inquiries about board matters made by the
public in a manner that is consistent with this policy?

¢ Does your board have an appointed Records Access Officer?

e Does your board have a practice related to the use of personal devices or
emails?

» Does your board have a written records retention policy?

For more information on the state’s public records law, please contact the Public Records
Division at the Secretary of the Commonwealth’s Office at (617) 727-2832. The Secretary of the
Commonwealth’s Office also has developed a free, comprehensive guide to the public records
law. The guide, titled A Guide to the Massachusetts Public Records Law, is available on the
Secretary of the Commonwealth's website at www.sec.state.ma.us. See Appendix A.

10. Detect and report suspected fraud, wrongdoing or other misuse of public resources: If
you see something, say something.

Any misuse of public funds and resources affects a public organization’s financial well-being,
reputation and ability to accomplish its mission. As a public board member, you have an
important role in preventing and detecting fraud. You and your fellow members are custodians
of the public trust. You have the responsibility to protect public resources, including money,
assets, real property, employee time, digital records and other types of data. Massachusetts
citizens have entrusted these public resources to your care.

Although most employees are honest and hardworking, fraud and other misconduct still occur,
so you must diligently apply preventative measures — often referred to as internal controls — to

13| Page



help safeguard public assets and taxpayers’ interests. As a result, all organizations need
internal controls. Every internal control must be based on the specific organization. Some
common elements of an internal control plan to protect public resource include the following:

The segregation of duties performed by employees to ensure no one individual
can commit and cover up their own wrongdoing.

Approval processes for expenditures, with increased oversight for larger
expenditures.

Methods to track and monitor employee time and attendance, including the use
of leave time.

Controls to track the public organization’s acquisition and disposition of public
assets, such as vehicles, equipment, supplies and petty cash.

Fraud-reporting mechanisms, including a telephone or email hotline or an
independent complaint review process.

An anti-fraud policy, as well as employee training on the policy and annual
reminders to follow the policy.

A code of conduct with standards related to conflict of interest and other
professional standards that align with the public organization’s mission.

Tone at the top: communication from the organization’s administration about its
commitment to the highest ethical and professional standards.

Careful vetting of employees — both before and after hiring — to ensure that their
background and professional certifications meet the entity’s standards and
support the entity’s mission.

Further, you should determine whether the board has an internal audit committee to check and
verify expenses. If not, advocate for the creation of one. The board needs to set the “tone at
the top,” and communicate that the public organization has zero tolerance for fraud and other
inappropriate activity. An ethical work environment with internal controls is essential to the
proper use of public resources.

Ask:

What fraud risks exist in the public organization your board oversees?
What types of internal controls are in place

. ic
to properly monitor the use of publi other misuse of public funds by

resources? . calling the Office’s confidential
Does the public organization or your board | notiine: (300) 322-1323,

perform compliance reviews or audits? Or email the Office at

Does your public organization have an anti- | /GO-FightFraud@state.ma.us.
fraud program that includes training, All reports are confidential,
policies, new-hire background checks and a fraud hotline or other fraud-
reporting mechanisms?

Report suspected fraud, waste or

14|Page



Conclusion

This Office would like to thank the Office of the Attorney General, the Secretary of the
Commonwealth and the State Ethics Commission for their assistance in creating this guide.

To learn more about fulfilling your role as a board member, we hope you will attend the
Office’s complimentary class, Are You @ Member of a Public Board or Commission? Know Your
Responsibilities. This free class is offered through the Office’s Massachusetts Certified Public
Purchasing Official (“MCPPO") program. For information on dates for this course, please see
the Office’'s website at www.mass.gov/ig.

If you would like to learn even more about protecting your public organization and its limited
public resources, the Office’s MCPPO program offers a wide range of training — from public
construction to contract administration to fraud prevention. Please explore the MCPPO’s
classes at www.mass.gov/ig.

Thank you for your service and best of luck in your role as a public board member!

15|Page



Appendix A:

Sources of Advice and Assistance

Office of the Attorney General

The Office of the Attorney General
interprets and enforces the open meeting
law.

Office of the Comptroller

The Office of the Comptroller is responsible

for developing internal control guidelines

for Commonwealth departments, including

state agencies and quasi-state agencies.

Office of the Inspector General

The Office of the Inspector General is an
independent agency that prevents and
detects the misuse of public funds and
public property, conducts confidential
investigations, improves transparency in
government, helps government run more
effectively and educates government
employees and the public.

Secretary of the Commonwealth
The Secretary of the Commonwealth
administers the public records law.

State Ethics Commission

The State Ethics Commission administers
and enforces financial disclosure and
conflict-of-interest law. It also renders
written advisory opinions upon request.

Office of the Attorney General
Division of Open Government
One Ashburton Place

Boston, MA 02108

Telephone: 617-963-2540

Email: openmeeting@state.ma.us
Website: www.mass.gov/ago

Office of the Comptroller

One Ashburton Place

Boston, MA 02108

Telephone: 617-727-9140

Email: comptroller.info@state.ma.us
Website: www.mass.gov/comptroller

Office of the Inspector General

One Ashburton Place

Boston, MA 02108

Telephone: 617-727-9140

Email: IGO-FightFraud@massmail.state.ma.us
Website: www.mass.gov/ig

Secretary of the Commonwealth
Public Records Division

One Ashburton Place, Room 1719
Boston, MA 02108

Telephone: 617-727-2832

Email: pre@sec.state.ma.us
Website: www.sec.state.ma.us

State Ethics Commission

One Ashburton Place, Room 619
Boston, MA 02108

Telephone: 617-371-9500
Website: www.mass.gov/ethics

16| Page



Summary of the Conflict of Interest
Law for Municipal Employees

All municipal employees must be provided with this summary of the conflict of
interest law annually.

All city and town employees must be provided with this Summary of the Conflict of Interest Law for
Municipal Employees within 30 days of hire or election, and then annually. All city and town employees

are then required to acknowledge in wiiting that they received the summary.

This summary of the conflict of interest law, General Laws
chapter 268A, is intended to help municipal employees
understand how that law applies to them.

This summary is nol a substitute for legal advice, nor does it mention every aspect of the law that may
apply in a particular situation. Municipal employees can obtain free confidential acdvice about the conflict
of interest law from the Commission's Legal Division at our website, phone number, and address above.

Municipal counsel may also provide advice.

The conflict of interest law seeks to prevent conflicts between private interests and public duties, foster
integrity in public service, and promote the public's trust and confidence in that service by placing
restrictions on what municipal employees may do on the job, after hours, and after leaving public service,

as described below. The sections referenced below are sections of G.L. c. 268A.

When the Commission determines that the conflict of interest law has been violated, it can impose a civil

hittng - ffuase: mace Anvleanira.dataile/eimmannnitha.ranflictoabintaract daufarcmonicrinal.amnlnuase 114



penalty of up to $10,000 ($25,000 for bribery cases) for each violation. In addition, the Commission can
order the violator to repay any economic advantage he gained by the violation, and to make restitution to

injured third parties. Violations of the conflict of interest law can also be prosecuted criminally.

I. Are you a municipal employee for conflict of interest law purposes?

You do not have to be a full-time, paid municipal employee Lo be considered a municipal employee for
conflict of interest purposes. Anyone performing services for a city or town or holding a municipal
position, whether paid or unpaid, including fuli- and part-time municipal employces, elected officials,
volunteers, and consultants, is a municipal employee under the conflict of interest law. An employee of a
private finm can also be a municipal employee, if the private fitm has a contract with the city or lown and
Lhe employec is a "key employee” under the contract, meaning Lthe lown has specifically contracted for
ler services. The law also covers private parlies who engage in impermissible dealings with municipal
employees, such as offering bribes or illegal gifls. Town meeting members and charter commission

members are not municipal employees under the conflict of inlerest law.

If. On-the-job restrictions.

(a) Bribes. Asking for and taking bribes is prohibited. (See Section 2)

A brbe is anything of value corruptly received by a municipal employee in exchange for the employee

being influenced in his official actions. Giving, offering, receiving, or asking for a bribe is illegal.

Bribes are more serious than illegal gifts because they involve corrupt intent. In other words, the municipal
employee intends to sell his office by agreeing to do or not do some official act, and the giver intends to

influence him to do so. Bribes of any value are illegal.

(b) Gifts and gratuities. Asking for or accepting a gift because of your official
position, or because of something you can do or have done in your official
position, is prohibited. (See Sections 3, 23(b)(2), and 26)

hlime-Haniw mace anvlearviraodatzilelenmmancabtha.ranilict.aflantaraelaufar.mnnirinal.amnlnvaae A



«Municipal employees may not accept gifts and gratuities valued al $50 or more given to influence theis
official actions or because of their official position. Accepting a gift intended to reward past official aclion
or to bring about future official action is illegal, as is giving such gifts. Accepling a gift given Lo you
because of the municipal position you hold is also illegal. Meals, enterlainment event tickets, golf, gift
baskets, and payment of travel expenses can all be illegal gifts if given in connection with official action or
position, as can anything worlh $50 or more. A number of smaller gifts together worth $50 or more may

also violate these sections

Example of violation : A town administrator accepts reduced rental payments from developers.

Example of violation : A developer offers a ski tiip to a school district ermployee who oversees the

developer's work for the school district.

Regulatory exemptions . There are situations in which a municipal employee's receipt of a gift does not
present a genuine risk of a conflict of interest, and may in fact advance the public interest. The
Commission has created exemptions permitting giving and receiving gifts in these situations. One
commonly used exemption permits municipal employees to accept payment of travel-related expenses
when doing so advances a public purpose. Another commonly used exemption permits municipal
employees to accept payment of costs involvad in attendance at educational and training programs.

Other exemptions are listed on the Commission's website.

Example where there is no violation : A fire truck manufacturer offers to pay the travel expenses of a fire
chief to a trade show where the chief can examine various kinds of fire-fighting equipment that the town
may purchase. The chief fills out a disclosure form and obtains prior approval from his appointing

authority.

Example where there is no violation : A town treasurer attends a two-day annual school featuring
multiple substantive seminars on issues relevant to treasurers. The annual school is paid for in part by
banks that do business with town treasurers. The treasurer is only required to make a disclosure if one of

the sponsoring banks has official business before her in the six months before or after the annual school.

htne-fhanina mace nmileanvica.dataile/eitmmannnfthacranflicloafinlaractdsw for.mnnicinal.amnlauss s A



(c) Misuse of position. Using your official position to get something you are not
entitled to, or to get someone else something they are not entitled to, is
prohibited. Causing someone else to do these things is also prohibited. (See
Sections 23(b)(2) and 26)

A municipal employee may not use her official position 1o get something worth $50 or more thal would
not he properly available to other similarly situated individuals. Similarly, a municipal employee may not
use her official position to get something worth $50 or more for someone else that would not be properly
available to other similarly situated individuals. Causing someone else Lo do these things is also

prohibited.

Example of violation : A [ufl-limc¢ town employee wriles a novel on work time, using her office compulter,

and direcling her secretary to proofread the draft.

Example of violation : A city councilor directs subordinates to drive the councilor's wife to and from the

grocery store

Example of violation - A mayor avoids a specding ticket by asking the police officer who stops him, "Do

you know who | am?" and showing his municipal 1.D.

(d) Self-dealing and nepotism. Participating as a municipal employee in a
matter in which you, your immediate family, your business organization, or
your future employer has a financial interest is prohibited. (See Section 19)

A municipal employee may not participate in any particular matter in which he or a member of his
immediate family (parents, children, siblings, spouse, and spouse's parents, children, and siblings) has a
financial interest. He also may not participate in any particular matter in which a prospective employer, or
a business organization of which he is a director, officer, trustee, or employee has a financial interest.

Participation includes discussing as well as voting on a matter, and delegating a matter to someone else.

A financial interest may create a conflict of interest whether it is large or small, and positive or negative. In

hHne Hanias maee nmideandcra.Adalaileteoammaninfdha.mrnaflichabintaroctdaunfarcmimisinal.amnlrvocac A4



otherwords, It does not matter if a lot of money is involved or only a little, It also does not mattor if you

', are pulting money into your pocket or taking it out. If you, your immediate family, your business, or your
ermployer have or has a financial interest in a matler, you may not parlicipate. The financial interest must
be direct and immediate or reasonably foresecable to create a conflict. Financial interests which are

rermote, specutative or not sufficiently identifiable do not create conflicts.

Example of violation : A school committee member's wife is a teacher in the town's public schools. The

school committee member votes on the budget line item for teachers' salaries.

Example of violation : A member of a town affordable housing committee is also the director of a non-
profit housing development corporation. The non-profit makes an apphcation {o the committee, and the

member/director participates in the discussion.

Example : A planning board member lives next door Lo properly where a developer plans to construct a
new building Because the planning board member owns abutling properly, he is presumed to have a
financial interest in the matter. He cannot participate uniess he provides the State Ethics Commission
with an opinion from a qualified independent appraiser that the new construction will not affect his

financial interest.

In many cases, where not othenvise required to participate, a municipal employee may comply with the
law by simply not participating in the particular matter in which she has a financial interest, She need not

give a reason for not paiticipating.

There are several exemptions to this section of the law. An appolinted municipal employee may file a
written disclosure about the financial interest with his appointing authority, and seek permission to
participate notwithstanding the conflict. The appointing authority may grant written permission if she
determines that the financial interest in question is not so substantial that it is likely to affect the integrity
of his services to the municipality. Participating without disclosing the financial interest is a violation.

Elected employees cannot use the disclosure procedure because they have no appointing authority.

Example where there is no violation : An appointed member of the town zoning advisory committee,
which will review and recommend changes to the town’s by-laws with regard to a commercial district, is a

partner at a company that owns commercial property in the district. Prior to participating in any

httne thama mace nrvfeandicra.dalailelenmmani.nfdha.randl irloalantarsstdautarcmonicinal.amnlmrvaac R4



commitiee discussions, the member files a disclosuie with the zoning board of appeals that appointed
him to his position, and that board gives him a writlen determination authorizing his participation,

despite his company's financial interest. There is no violation,

There is also an exemption for bolh appeinted and elected employees where the employee’s task is Lo
adldress a matter of general policy and the employee's financial interest is shared with a substantial
portion (generally 10% or more) of the town's population, such as, for instance, a financial interest in real

cslale tax rates or municipal utility rates.

Regulatory exemptions. In addition to the statutory exemplions just mentioned, the Commission has
created several regulatory exemptions permitting municipal employees to parlicipate in particular matters
notwithstanding the presence of a financial interest in certain very specific situations when permitting
them Lo do so aclvances a public purpose. There is an exemption permitling school commitlee
members Lo participate in selling school fees Lthat will affect theis own children if they imake a prior
writlen disclosure. There is an exemption permitting towvn clerks Lo perform election-related funclions
everi when they, or their immediate family members, are on Lhe ballot, because clerks’ election-related
funclions are extensively regulated by other laws. There is also an exemplion permitting a person serving
as a member of a municipal board pursuant Lo a legal requirement that the board have members with a
specified affiliation to parlicipate lully in determinalions of general policy by the board, even if the entity
with which he is affiliated has a financial interest in the malter. Other exemptions are listed in the

Commission's regulations, available on the Commission’s website.

Example where there is no violation. A municipal Sheilfish Advisory Board has been created to provide
advice 1o the Board of Selectmen on policy issues related to shellfishing. The Advisory Board is required
lo have members who are currently commercial fishermen. A board member who is a commercial
isherman may participate in determinations of general policy in which he has a financial inlerest
common to all commercial fishermen, but may not participate in determinations in which he alone has a

financial interest, such as the extension of his own individual permits or leases.

(e) False claims. Presenting a false claim to your employer for a payment or
benefit is prohibited, and causing someone else to do so is also prohibited.
(See Sections 23(b)(4) and 26)

A municipal employee may not present a false or fraudulent claim to his employer for any payment or

htine fhansea mace Anulsandra.dalzilelciimmannaltha.ranflict.afuintaractlaufar.munirinal.amnlavase "4



DERICHILVOIL DDU O IMI0Ie, O Cause another person to do so.

Example of violation - A public works director diects his secretary to fill out time sheets to show him as

present at work on days when he was skiing.

(f) Appearance of conflict. Acting in a manner that would make a reasonable
person think you can be improperly influenced is prohibited. (See Section 23(b

(3)

A municipal employee may not act in a manner that would cause a reasonable person to think Lthat she
would show favor toward someone or that she can be improperly influenced. Section 23(b)(3} requires a
municipal employee to consider whether her relationships and affiliations could prevent her from acting
fairly and objectively when she performs her duties for a city or town. If she cannot be fair and objective
because of a relationship or affiliation, she should not perform her duties. However, a municipa!
employee, whether elected or appointed, can avoid violating this provision by making a public disclosure

of the facts. An appointed employee must make the disclosure in writing to his appointing official.

Example where there is no violation : A developer who is the cousin of the chair of the conservation
commission has filed an application with the conmission. A reasonable person could conclude that the
chair might favor her cousin. The chair files a written disclosure with her appointing authority explaining
her relationship with her cousin prior to the meeting at which the application will be considered. There is
no violation of Sec. 23(b)(3).

(g) Confidential information. Improperly disclosing or personally using
confidential information obtained through your job is prohibited. (See Section
23(c))

)

Municipal employees may not improperly disclose confidential information, or make personal use of non-

public information they acquired in the course of their official duties to further their personal interests.

lil. After-hours restrictions.

hltnetlanana maze amleandira.dataideleimmaninfthaosanilictonf. ntarast s fnromiinicinal.amnlavaace



(a) Taking a second paid job that conflicts with the duties of your municipal job
is prohibited. (See Section 23(b)(1))

A municipal employee may not accept other paid employment if the responsibilities of the second job are

mcompatible with his or her municipal job

Example : A police officer may not woik as a paid private security guard in the town where he serves

because the demands of his private employment would conflict with his duties as a police officer.

(b) Divided loyalties. Receiving pay from anyone other than the city or town to
work on a matter involving the city or town is prohibited. Acting as agent or
attorney for anyone other than the city or town in a matter involving the city or
town is also prohibited whether or not you are paid. (See Sec. 17)

Because cities and towns are enliicd to Uhe undivided loyalty of their employces, a municipat employee
may nol be paid by other people and otganizations i 1elation Lo a matler il the city o town has an
wilerest in the matter. In addition, o municipal employee may not act on behalf of other people and
organtzations or acl as an atlorney lor other people and organizations in which the Llown has an inlerest.
Acling as agent inclucles contacling the municipality in person, by phone, or in wriling,; acling as a liaison,

providing documents Lo the city or town, and serving as spokesman.

Aomunicipal employee may always represent his owwn personal interests, even before his own municipal
agency or board, on the same Lerms and conditions that other similarly situated members of the public
would be allowed to do so. A municipal empioyee may also apply for building and related permils on
behalf of someone else and be paid for doing so, unless he works for the permitting agency, or an agency

which regulates Lhe permitling agency.

Example of violation : A full-time health agent submits a septic system plan that she has prepared for a
private client to the town's board of health.

Example of viclation - A planning board member represents a private client before the board of

selectmen on a request that town meeting consider rezoning the client’s property.

hHpme flasaan maze anvlcanira.datzilsfenmmancabitha.canflich.afointaractdawodnromnicinal.amnlavase B



. While many municipal employees earn their livelihood in municipal jobs, some municipal employees
volunteer their lime Lo provide services Lo the town or 1eceive small stipends. Others, such as a piivate
attorney who provides legal services Lo a town as needed, may serve in a position in vwhich they may have
other personal or private employment during normal working hours. In iecognition of the need not Lo
unduly restrict the ability of town volunteers and part-time employees to earn a living, the law is less

restrictive for "special” municipal employees than for other municipal employees.

The status of "special” municipal employee has to be assigned Lo a municipal position by vote of the
board of selectmen, city council, or similar body. A position is eligible o be designated as "special” if it is
unpaid, or if it is part-time and the employee is allowed Lo have another job during normal working hours,
or if the employee was not paid for working more than 800 hours during the preceding 365 days. It is the
position that is designated as "special” and nol the person or persons holding the position. Selectmen in

towns of 10,000 or fewer are automatically "special’; selectman in larger lowns cannot be "specials”

If @ municipal position has been designated as “special,” an employee holding that position may be paid
by others, act on behalf of others, and act as attorney for others with respect to matters before municipal
boards other than his own, piovided that he has not officially participated in the matler, and the matter is

not now, and has not within the past year been, under his official responsibility.

Example : A school committee member who has been designated as a special municipal employee
appeais before the board of health on behalf of a client of his private law practice, on a matter that he
has not participated in or had responsibility for as a school committee member. There is no conflict.
Howsever, he may not appear before the school committee, or the school department, on behalf of a
client because he has official responsibility for any matter that comes before the school committee. This

is still the case even if he has recused himself from participating in the matter in his official capacity.

Example : A member who sits as an alternate on the conservation commission is a special municipal
employee. Under town by-laws, he only has official responsibility for matters assigned to him. He may
represent a resident who wants to file an application with the conservation commission as long as the

matter is not assigned to him and he will not participate in it.

(c) Inside track. Being paid by your city or town, directly or indirectly, under

hitne fhunans mace nnufeandra.datailelenmmanafaha.ranficloabintoractdaufar.monicnal.amalagasc anA



some second arrangement in addition to your job is prohibited, unless an
exemption applies. (See Section 20)

A municipal employee generally may not have a financial interest in a municipal contract, including a
second municipal job. A municipal employee 15 also generally prohibited frorn having an indirect financial
interest in a contract that the city or town has with someone else. This provision is intended to prevent

municipal employees from having an 'inside track” to further financial opportunities.

Example of violation : Legal counsel to Lhe town housing authority becomes the acting executive director

of the authorily, and is paid in both positions.

Example of violation : A selectman buys a surplus Lruck from the town DPW.

Example of violation : A full-time secretary for the board of health wants to have a second paid job
working part-time for the town library. She will violate Section 20 unless she can meet the requirements

of an exemption.

Example of violation : A cily councilor wants Lo work for a non-profil that receives funding under a
contiact with her city. Unlzss she can satisfy Lhe requitements of an exemiption under Section 20, she

cannol lake the job.

[here are numerous exemptions. A municipal employee may hold multiple unpaid or elected positions.

Same exemptions apply only to special municipal employees. Specific exemptions may cover serving as
an unpaid volunteer in a second town position, housing-related benefits, public salety positions, cerlain
elected positions, small towns, and other specific situations. Please call the Ethics Commission's Legal

Division for advice aboul a specific situation.

IV. After you leave municipal employment. (See Section 18)

(a) Forever ban. After you leave your municipal job, you may never work for

hhtne Haninn mace nnvfsaniiradatailclcommananbtha.ranflichnfdntarastdascfaramunicinal.emninuesas LR



UIsYyWIIC ULHICE LHiall LS nHiutiicipality vil a llidiiel LtidL you WOrkea on as a

.municipal employee,.

If you participated in a matter as a municipal employee, you cannot ever be paid to work on that same
matter for anyone other than the municipality, nor may you act for sormeone else, whether paid or not.
The purpose of this restriclion is to bar former employees from selling to private interests their familiarity
vith the facts of particular matters that are of continuing concern to their former municipal employer. The
restriclion does not prohibit former municipal employees from using the expertise acquired in

government service in their subsequent private activities.

Example of violation : A former school department employee works for a contractor under a contract that

she helped Lo draft and oversee for the school department.

(b) One year cooling-off period. For one year after you leave your municipal job
you may not participate in any matter over which you had official responsibility
during your last two years of public service.

Former municipal employees are barred for one year after they leave municipal employment from
personally appearing before any agency of the municipality in connection vith matters that were under

their authorily in their prior municipal positions during the two years before they left.

Example . An assistant lown manager negotiates a three-year contract with a company. The town
manager who supervised the assistant, and had official responsibility for the contract but did not
participate in negotiating it, leaves her job to work for the company to which the contract was awarded.
The former manager may not call or write the town in connection with the company’'s work on the

contract for one year after leaving the town.

A former municipal employee who participated as such in general legistation on expanded gaming and
related matters may not become an officer or employee of, or acquire a financia! interest in, an applicant

for a gaming license, or a gaming licensee, for one year after his public employment ceases.

(c) Partners. Your partners will be subject to restrictions while you serve as a

hHne-flanca mace nnwlzandira_dstaileloommananbtbhacanflict.efointaract dawcfnrminmirinal.amnlrrsos 114



municipal employee and after your municipal service ends.

Partners of municipal employeces and former municipal employees are also subject to reslrictions under
the conflict of interest law. if a municipal employee participated in a matter, or if he has official
responsibilily for a matter, then his partner may not act on behalf of anyone other than the municipality

or provide services as an attorney to anyone bul ihe city or lown in relation to the matter.

Example  While serving on a city's historic district cornmission, an architect reviewed an application to
set landmark status for a building. His partners at his architecture firmy may not prepare and sign plans for
the owner of the building or otherwise acl on the owner's behalf in relation to the application for landmark
slatus. In addition, because the archilect has official responsibility as a commissioner for every matter
lhat coines before the commission, his partners may not communicate with Lhe commission or olherwise
acl on behall of any chient on any matter that comes before the commission during the time that the

architecl serves on the comimission.

Example ' A former town counsel joins a law firm as a partner. Because she hitigated a lawsuil for the
town, her new partners cannot represent any private clients in Lthe lawsuit for one year after her job with

the town encled

This summary 1s nol intended to be legal advice and, because il is a summary, it does nol menlion every
provision of the conflict law thal may apply in a particular situation. Our

websile, hitp //www.mass.gov/ethics contains further information about how the law applies in many
situalions. You can also contact the Commission’s Legal Division via our websile, by telephone, or by

letter. Our contacl information is at the top of this document.

Version 7. Revised November 14, 2016

Acknowledgement of Receipt of Summary of the Conflict of
Interest Law for Municipal Employees

hitne laswsr maee nnvleannra dalailelenmmancaftha.ranflictosiinlaract laacfaromomicinal.amalavase 19A



